# **AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF ARMENIA**

# **Department of English Programs**

#### A Thesis Submitted in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts in

Teaching English as a Foreign Language (TEFL)

# The effect of project work on students' language achievement

# Thesis committee:

Catherine Buon, Ph.D.-Thesis Advisor

Melissa Brown, M.A. - Thesis Reader

Alexan Simonyan, Ph.D. - Statistical Advisor

By:

**Anush Adamyan** 

Yerevan, Armenia

# **AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF ARMENIA**

# Department of English Programs

We hereby approve that this thesis

By

# Anush Adamyan

**Entitled** 

The Effect of Project Work on Students' Language Achievement

be accepted in partial satisfaction for the requirements of the degree of \$M.A.\$ in TEFL

Committee on the Thesis

Commune on the Thesis
Catherine Buon: Thesis Advisor
Melissa Brown: Thesis Reader
Catherine Buon: Associate Dean of DEP

Yerevan, Armenia

2011

# Dedication

To my dear family

and my beloved husband

# Acknowledgements

There are a number of people to whom I want to express my deepest gratitude for their assistance in the completion of this thesis.

First of all I want to thank my thesis supervisor, Dr. Catherine Buon. I am grateful to her for her guidance and assistance. She always monitored my work and provided me with valuable comments. I acknowledge her help in all chapters of the thesis.

I would also like to thank my thesis reader, Miss Melissa Brown from the bottom of my heart because her kind help and guidance within the whole process of the completion of this thesis is valuable.

I want to express my deep gratitude to Dr. Alexan Simonyan for his help on the analysis of the statistical part of my thesis. He kindly agreed to discuss and explain every tiny detail in the difficult world of statistics, and I even began to clearly understand and like this world.

My two-year journey through the world of knowledge and experience in the American University of Armenia would never have been effective and productive if not for the faculty members of the Department of English Programs. I am sure that the knowledge and skills they gave to me are going to be a guarantee for success and great accomplishments in the future.

I always say that the AUA gave me two things that I would have never gotten anywhere else – my knowledge and my friends. Together with my friends we have shared a great life experience, and it was during our studies that we learnt to show assistance and help to each other and be cooperative. One of these friends who is now much more than only a friend now is Anna Movsesyan, a symbol of kindness, modesty and harmony.

I want to express my sincere thanks and gratitude to my dear family and my beloved husband. They were the people who were with me during the whole period of my studies and encouraged me to go on and realize my desire to get my master's degree

in the most reputable university of Armenia. I appreciate their understanding and patience and the strength and courage they give me at every step of my life. I promise to fulfill their expectations of me and be someone they can always be proud of.

Last, but not least, I thank God. I always feel His presence, His support and protection.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	i
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vii
ABSTRACT	vii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. SIGIFICANCE OF THE STUDY	1
1.2. RESEARCH QUESTIONS	2
1.3. THE STRUCTURE OF THE THESIS	2
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1 Theoretical basis of project work	3
2.2 Defining project-based instruction	4
2.3 Task-based instruction	5
2.4 Previous research on project-based instruction	9
2.5 Components and characteristics of project work	10
2.5.1 Characteristics of project work	10
2.5.2 The implementation of project work	12
2.5.3 Types of project work	12
2.5.4 Examples of project work	14
2.5.5 Stages of conducting projects	18
2.6 Pros and cons of project-based instruction in language learning	20
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	23
3.1. Participants	23
3.2. Instrumentation	23
3.2.1 Pre-test	24

3.2.2 Observations	24
3.2.3 Questionnaire	25
3.2.4 Interviews	25
3.2.5 Achievement tests	26
3.3. DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURE	27
3.6. DATA ANALYSIS	29
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	30
4.1. ANALYSIS OF THE QUANTITATIVE DATA	30
4.1.1 Pre-test and achievement test analysis	30
4.1.2 Questionnaire analysis	37
4.2. ANALYSIS OF THE QUALITATIVE DATA	41
4.2.1 Interview analysis	41
4.3. DISCUSSION	43
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	46
5.1. FINDINGS	46
5.2. LIMITATIONS	47
5.3. IMPLICATIONS	47
5.4. FURTHER RESEARCH	48
BIBLIOGRAPHY	50
APPENDICES	54
Appendix A: Pre- test	54
Appendix B: Achievement tests	58
Appendix C: Project guidelines	67
Appendix D: Questionnare	69

# List of tables

Table 1. Interview questions for students	70
Table 2. Raw data	70
Table 3. Questionnaire results	70
Table 4. Questionnaire item analysis in percentages	70
Table 5. Mann-Whitney U Test: test ranke	71
Table 6. Mann-Whitney U Test: Significance of test results	71
Table 7. Friedman Test: Significance of test results for the experimental group	72
Table 8. Friedman Test: Significance of test results for the experimental group	72
Table 9. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of pretest and test 1 in experimental group	.72
Table 10. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of pretest and test 1 in control group	73
Table 11. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of pretest and quiz1 in experimental group	74
Table 12 Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of pretest and quiz1 in control group	74
Table 13 Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of pretest and test2 in experimental group	75
Table 14. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of pretest and test2 in control group	76
Table 15. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of test 1 and quiz 1 in experimental group	.76
Table 16. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of test 1 and quiz 1 in control group	77
Table 17. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of test 1 and test 2 in experimental group	78
Table 18. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of test 1 and test 2 in control group	78
Table 19. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of quiz 1 and test 2 in experimental group	.79
Table 20. Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test: Comparison of quiz 1 and test 2 in control group	80

# **Abstract**

Project-based instruction has been heralded as a most promising activity that can engage students into academic language and literacy skills. A growing body of evidence indicates that project learning supports the development of critical skills students must have to meet the demands of the 21st century. However, there is scanty research on project-based instruction in general and on its effect on language achievement in particular.

This study reports on the findings of research carried out in an English for General Purposes (EGP) class in American University of Armenia. The aim of the study was to investigate the effect of project work on students' language achievement as well as to inquire into their attitudes towards project work. Based on the review of related literature a null hypothesis was proposed at the beginning of the study. The participants of the study were nineteen EGP students studying at American University of Armenia, ages ranging from 16 to 35. The study was designed within the traditions of both qualitative and quantitative research. Of five instruments used in this study a pre - test, three achievement tests and open-ended questionnaire helped to obtain quantitative data and teacher observations and semi-structured interview helped to obtain qualitative data. Quantitative data was analyzed through the SPSS software package, via Mann-Whitney U Test, Friedman test and Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Tests, and qualitative data was first transcribed and then analyzed.

Through the analysis of the data obtained from the tests it was revealed that both groups, regardless of being assigned project work or not, performed equally during the achievement tests they were given during the ten week course, i.e. there was no significant difference in terms of language improvement between the experimental and control groups at the end of instruction. However, in the analysis of the questionnaire administered in the experimental group at the end of the classes, as well as he analysis of their responses to the interview questions it was found out that the students of the experimental group highly appreciate their experience of doing project

work and working collaboratively with their peers. They found it beneficial for their studies and felt that it contributed greatly to their language achievement.

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### Introduction

As a teaching method, problem based instruction has gained immense popularity in education, including second/foreign language education (Backett, 2002). Knoll (1997) suggests that project work is the most suitable teaching method as far as constructivist concepts, inquirybased learning, problem-solving, and design are concerned. Unlike traditional teaching, which is primarily based on lectures and tutorials and follows instruction-driven model, where students are passive learners, project-based learning (PBL) is based on the constructivist learning theory as a different learning paradigm where learning from the real world is primary (Benson, 2005). Based on the results of many studies on project work, it can be stated that project-based learning method both has a positive effect on students academic achievement levels and attitudes towards the lesson, and also fosters academic risk-taking, problem solving and creative thinking skills. Behman (2010) sums up the benefits and the overall characteristics of Project work stating that a project-based learning lesson provides students with the opportunity to learn in an authentic, challenging, environment, to learn how to design, carry out, and evaluate a project that requires nonstop effort over a considerable period of time, to learn to work with minimal external guidance, both individually and in groups, to gain in autonomy and personal responsibility. To gain insight into the effectiveness of project work and its benefits for general language achievement in foreign language education, this study seeks to explore this method of teaching, investigate its benefits, types and techniques, as well as to find out learners' attitudes towards it.

# 1.1 Significance of the Study

This study is significant for several reasons. First of all, the review of related literature has shown that there are some obvious gaps in the ESL/EFL education research. The existing research suffers from a dichotomy in its examination of students' perceptions of PBL as a pedagogical activity. There is also lack of research investigating the effect of project work on academic literacy (Behman, 2010). Behman (2010) states that lack of research on project work

may be explained by the fact that project-based learning is still in the developmental stage. He mentions that there is not ample research or empirical data to be able to state with confidence that project-based learning is a proven alternative to other forms of learning.

Taking these factors into account, it can be concluded that the significance of the present study lies in the fact that it seeks to find out:

- the effect of project work on students' language achievement
- the students' attitude towards project work

# **1.2 Research Questions**

The questions that guide the current research e the following:

- 1. To what extent does project work contribute to language achievement?
- 2. What are the learners' attitudes towards project work?

#### 1.3 The Structure of the Thesis

This paper consists of four chapters:

- Chapter 2 covers the essential theoretical background to the study. In this chapter the theoretical basis of project work will be described, definitions will be given, its characteristics, types and stages will be discussed, and the pros and cons of project-based learning (PBL) in language learning will be described.
- Chapter 3 describes the methodology used to conduct this research describing the participants of the study, research design, instrumentations and procedure of data collection,
- Chapter 4 includes the analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data collected in attempt to arrive at an answer to the research questions,
- Chapter 5 reviews the findings, specifies the answers of the research questions, mentions the limitations and implications of the study and gives suggestions for further research.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### Literature review

## 2.1 Theoretical basis of project work

Project-based instruction is the product of constructivist theory. Constructivists view knowledge as being constructed by the learners rather than being taught to them. Basic foundations of constructivism are situated cognition, cognitive apprenticeship and multiple perspectives, all of which, according to proponents of constructivism, are in close connection to project-based learning. Constructivist approach to learning holds meaning making at its core (Benson, 2005).

One of the proponents of constructivism, Piaget believed that cognitive development was fundamentally a process of maturation, and that the mind developed keeping the balance between what is known and what is experienced at the moment. In other words, learning takes place based on experience by means of solving real-life problems. Dewey's problem method was based on this approach. Dewey (1938) believed that, in a democratic society, education should not only emphasize the knowledge of subject matter. Rather, it should stress the importance of the ability of the learner to engage in social interaction. This interaction, according to him, gives birth to problems the solution of which is essential to satisfy individuals' needs. The teacher's role in this interaction is to guide the learners' self-directed efforts rather than to direct them.

Vygotsky was another representative of constructivist theory who viewed effective learning as social interaction between two or more people. He was the one to generate the concept of Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD) which he defines as: "...the distance between the actual development level as determined by independent problem solving and the level of potential development as determined through problem solving under adult guidance or in collaboration with more capable peers" (Benson, 2005).

Thus, in a constructivist approach to language learning, learners are expected to express their personal understanding of the learning materials and construct their own reality (Ke, 2010). The above-mentioned concerns on the importance of problem solution and the stress on social interaction have contributed to the emergence of project-based learning (PBL). Definitions of PBL given by different authors are provided in the following section.

#### 2.2 Defining project-based instruction

Project-based instruction has been defined differently by different authors. If Kilpatrick (1925) defined a project as the product of any purposeful activity initiated by a motivated learner, Dewey (1938) considered project a common activity, and believed that "a genuine purpose starts with an impulse but differs from an original impulse and desire through its transformation into a plan and method of action" (-p. 43). Kilpatrick (1925) also defined the project as a "hearty *purposeful* act". Moss & Van Duzer (1998) consider project work as "an instructional approach that contextualizes learning by presenting learners with problems to solve or products to develop" (p. 2).

Backett (2002) and SRI International (2009) define a project as an ongoing activity which includes such individual and cooperative tasks as research plan and questions, implementation of the plan, and reflection on or communication of the product either orally or in written form. Thus, students in project learning are supposed to solve complicated real-life problems rather than be taught facts from books (SRI International, 2009). The project is also considered to aim at socializing students into academic language and literacy skills and foster the development of linguistic knowledge (Ochs, 1990; Backett, 2002; Mohan, 1986). It is also believed that project-based instruction gives room to the development of multiple skills (Alan & Stoller, 2005, Foss et al., 2007). A clear-cut definition of a project given by Cherters (1997) is that it is "a problematic act carried to completion in a natural setting" (p.139). Thus, Backett (2002) points out that the primary goal of project-based instruction is comprehensible output taking place continuously during the project as well as in the form of the final product. Robinson

(1991) believes that project work has numerous potential pay-offs, because of its learner - centered nature, use of authentic language, and tasks, and a concentration on discourse rather than on the sentence level.

Thomas (2000) names six criteria to define PBL: (a) "Projects are central, not unimportant in the curriculum"; (b) "projects are focused on questions or problems that 'drive' students to encounter (and struggle with) the central concepts and principles of the discipline"; (c) "projects involve students in a constructive investigation"; (d) "projects are student-driven to some significant degree"; and (e) "projects are realistic, not school-like" (pp. 3-4). Thomas (2000) also mentions collaboration as a sixth criterion of PBL.

Based on the above mentioned definitions of project work given by different authors and the review of related literature, it can be assumed that project work is an indispensible part of task-based instruction. In fact, these two types of instruction – PBL and TBL are very closely related to one another. Thus, a closer look to task-based instruction will shed more light on and help to form a better understanding of aspects of project-based instruction. Some theoretical background on task-based instruction is provided and its goals and types are described in the next chapter.

#### 2.3 Task-based instruction

Richards & Rodgers (2001) state that task-based instruction is the approach to language teaching which has tasks as the basis of instruction. According to the authors this approach is the logical continuation of Communicative Language Teaching, since some of its principles were part of the communicative language teaching movement in 1980s. Some of these principles are:

- Activities involving real communication are essential for language learning
- Activities having language used for carrying meaningful tasks promote learning
- Language meaningful to the leaner supports the learning

Just as in Communicative Language Teaching, in task-based instruction as well, in order to activate learning processes, learners are engaged in task work, rather than in form-focused

activities, because the proponents of task-based instruction believe that it can foster the learning process. Thus, task-based instruction students are engaged in tasks that require negotiation of meaning and naturalistic and meaningful communication. Feez (1998) summarizes the most important assumptions of task-based instruction as:

- The focus is on process rather than on product
- Basic elements are tasks and activities than stress communication
- Tasks are sequenced according to their difficulty
- Tasks can be either those that learners may need to accomplish in real life, or those that bear pedagogical purpose

Task-based instruction is a crucially important innovation of the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

Immediately after its emergence researchers began to actively encourage its implementation in education (Ali, 2008). Being a product of cognitive approaches to language teaching and psycholinguistics, task-based instruction differentiates the following two perspectives on "task":

- 1. Macroscopic perspective
- 2. Microscopic perspective

According to Ali (2008), these two perspectives are different in terms of the number of characteristics that they presuppose for tasks. Thus, the proponents of the *microscopic* view see tasks mostly as meaning-making activities. Moreover, according to this approach to tasks, there exists an evident connection to the real-world, some kind of competition takes place and, finally, the performance of the task is primarily assessed via the outcomes.

In contrast, the proponents of the *macroscopic* approach do not limit the characteristics of a task to those mentioned above. In addition, they mention the importance of out-of-class language use as an essential part of a task.

The above mentioned perspectives are called strong and weak forms of task-based approach by Skehan (1996). In addition to these general perspectives of task-based instruction,

there are three other aspects of task-based instruction that are important to mention – its general goals, phases, and types. These three aspects are discussed below.

Ali (2008) and Willis & Willis (2007) state that the primary goals of task-based instruction are included in the following three broad categories:

- 1. Accuracy
- 2. Complexity/reconstruction
- 3. Fluency

Accuracy, according to them, is a goal in interlanguage the realization of which is closely associated with the overuse of well-known patterns in the foreign language and with the avoidance of unknown ones by the learners. The more learners progress in the learning of the language the more the complexity level grows. At this stage the learners' interlanguage becomes more elaborate and structured. Thus, complexity becomes the second goal in L2 learning because it reflects the ongoing process of acquisition. The final goal of task-based instruction is fluency, which means that the speakers of the foreign language are able to produce and perceive language at a relatively normal rate. From all the above, it can be concluded that in task-based instruction there should be alternating stages of focus on form and focus on communication. Moreover, there should be a sustainable balance between these two stages. It should be noted, however, that with the general goals in mind, task-based instruction will not automatically drive interlanguage forward, rather, it will teach learners to do tasks better, to find strategic solutions to problems and to engage in lexicalized communication (Ali, 2008, Willis & Willis, 2007).

As far as the stages of tasks are concerned, El Fattah (2006) Willis & Willis (2007) differentiate between three of them. According to these authors, the three main phases of task-based instruction are pre-task, during-task, and post-task.

The aim of the pre-task stage is to introduce new language, to promote restructuring in the underlying language system, to mobilize and recycle language, to ease the processing load, and to push learners to interpret tasks in more demanding ways. The pre-task stage can be realized through three types of activities: teaching, consciousness raising, and planning. As far as the second stage of the tasks, i.e. during-task is concerned, it is important to mention the two aspects that need to be covered. These are manipulation of attention and the extended task procedure. There are four choices to control the availability of attention \_ time pressure, support, control and stakes. The extended task procedure deals with more structured tasks (El Fattah, 2006, Willis & Willis, 2007).

The last stage of tasks, the post-task, gives the learners a chance to focus on language and they engage in various activities. The nature of the activities is not crucial at this stage. What is crucial, however, is that the language practice should, by all means, follow the task itself, not precede it (El Fattah, 2006, Willis & Willis, 2007). (Willis & Willis, 2007) state that it is at this stage that students should realize that fluency I not the only goal during the completion of the task. Restructuring and accuracy are also very important. The authors believe that at this stage students can be given such activities which require them to identify, classify, hypothesize, and search for patterns. In addition to grammar and vocabulary, pronunciation is also a factor to be put into consideration at the post - task stage (El Fattah, 2006).

From the review of related literature it can be assumed that the notion of "task" lies in the core of task-based instruction. Richards &Rodgers state that a task is an activity or goal which is carried out with the help of language use. Skehan (1996) believes that tasks are "activities which have meaning as their primary focus". According to Nunan (1989) "the communicative task is a piece of classroom work which involves learners in comprehending, manipulating, producing or interacting in the target language while their attention is principally focused on meaning rather than form. The task should also have a sense of completeness, being able to stand alone as a communicative act in its own right". The review of literature on task types reveals the following types which can be implemented during all three stages of tasks:

- Pair/ group tasks
- Closed/ open tasks

- Information gap tasks
- Opinion gap/ reasoning gap tasks
- Information processing tasks listing and ordering tasks, comparing tasks, ranking
   (rating) tasks, problem solving tasks
- Social interactive task -based role plays, interview tasks (El Fattah, 2006, Willis & Willis, 2007).

## 2.4 Previous research on project-based instruction

The review of literature shows that there is rare research on project work and on its influence on different language areas. Beckett (2002, p. 58) reports, "research on project-based instruction in L2 education is rare most of the available literature consisting of anecdotal reports of how language teachers organized project work for the purpose of second-language acquisition." In years since her comment, her own work (Beckett and Slater, 2005) has been one of the few empirical contributions in this area. Beckett and Slater (2005) carried out a three-week project with 57 upper-level university English language learners. The participants of their study conducted project work to assess and evaluate their own learning experience. The results of the research revealed that teachers and students had different attitudes towards project work and evaluated it in different ways. Thus, students said that the activity prevented them from learning ESL the way they were used to learning it, i.e. learning vocabulary, grammar, conversational English, English composition, etc. separately. The fact is, however, that the participants did learn everything mentioned above with one difference: they learnt it not separately, but via a project. However, this method of learning and teaching was not appreciated by the learners and they expressed a desire to learn from the teacher and the textbook, rather than learning from the project. In contrast to the students, the course teachers were pleased because they believed that project work helped to develop and produce independent and autonomous learners. In regard to this discrepancy, Stoller (2005) emphasizes the following point: students may not recognize that project-based and content based language instruction result in real language development. Thus,

the author believes that informing the students of the progress they make with the help of project work should be an inseparable part of the learning process.

Another example of implication of project work in education is ThinkQuest (2009). ThinkQuest is an online environment that enables teachers to design and carry out learning projects within their classrooms or in collaboration with ThinkQuest's global community cooperating with teachers and students all over the world. In addition, teachers are free to modify and change projects to suit their needs and make them appropriate for particular classes.

A closed review of related literature reveals some more studies on project work. Thus, Tomei, Glick & Holst (1999) conducted project work in their EFL classroom at a university in Japan. In their projects students surveyed their peers on a topic about student life. Their study showed that project work promoted language learning. They found out that learning was fostered by increasing the amount of input, making the content appropriate to students, and encouraging learners to be creative and imaginative.

Two studies were conducted aiming at finding out about the effect of project work on students' writing abilities. First, an English writing project was conducted in Ethiopia by Tessema (2005) in which the researcher explored ways by which project work could help students become actively engaged in writing tasks. Second, Gu (2003) conducted a study during which students explored the resources and foreign trade services in Suzhou and presented written reports with suggestions for solutions. She analyzed the effectiveness of the project in involving students in active, authentic, and reflective learning

As a result of the review of related literature, several implementations of content-based project work were observed. For instance, Zhao (2004) conducted a project-based course for doctoral candidates at Harbin Institute of Technology. The researcher came to the conclusion that projects provided a context for students to learn how to use different language skills in order to meet various needs. Most importantly, the students learned how to work in groups collaboratively and cooperate with others. Shang (2007) was another researcher who conducted a

content-based project with 63 business administration majors the aim being to help them improve both their business performance and their English language. The author claimed hat the key feature of project work was the broad and far-reaching use of materials directly from the culture being studied and language being used (Shang, 2007).

# 2.5 Components and characteristics of project work

This section provides an overview on characteristics of project work. Later the way how project work is implemented is described, some types of project work are presented, and sample projects are illustrated. Finally, stages of conducting project work are given.

# 2.5.1 Characteristics of project work

Buck Institute for Education (2011), Helle, Tynjala & Olkinuora (2006), Krajcik & Blumenfeld (2006), and Thomas (2000) state that project work

- is organized around an open-ended Driving Question or Challenge
- creates a need to know essential content and skills
- requires inquiry to learn and/or create something new
- requires critical thinking, problem solving, collaboration, and various forms of communication
  - allows some degree of student voice and choice
  - incorporates feedback and revision
  - results in a publicly presented product or performance
  - involves use of technology

Stoller (1997) and The Center of Excellence in Learning (2009) mention several characteristics of project work which best help to maximize the meaning and relevance of learning.

- 1. Project work focuses on content learning through language learning.
- 2. It is student-centered with the teacher playing a role in offering support and guidance throughout the process.

- 3. It is cooperative rather than competitive; students can work on their own, in small groups, or as a class to complete a project.
- 4. It leads to the authentic integration of skills and processing of information from varied sources, mirroring real-life tasks.
- 5. It culminates in an end product that can be shared with others.
- 6. It is potentially motivating, stimulating, empowering, and challenging; students can build up confidence, self-esteem, and autonomy as well as improve their language skills, content learning, and cognitive abilities.
- 7. It is active interacting, manipulating, observing, interpreting and constructing,
- 8. It is *constructive* integrating new experiences and prior knowledge,
- 9. It is *intentional* articulating ideas, decisions, strategies and solutions,
- 10. It is *authentic* situated in real-world tasks, and
- 11. It is cooperative occurring in social groups (Jonassen, 2000).

# 2.5.2 The implementation of project work

The review of literature has revealed that the successful implementation of project-based instruction depends on some factors. These factors are the focus of this section.

Dooly (2010) believes that projects are good if they bring about changes in the environment, hence in society and in the world as well. She believes that one important principle of PBL is for the final product to be meaningful for the students and to serve the needs of a wide audience. Dooley (2010) states that it is important for the teacher to have no doubt that the project has close links to the real world, and the learners see these links and their application outside the classroom. In addition to the meaningful purpose of project work, it is also important for the students to be aware of the tools, techniques and processes that build the development of the project (Baoming, 2006). In This respect, a factor that Klein (2009) finds crucial for project-based instruction is providing students with grading rubrics. According to the author, students should clearly know the criteria with which the final product of their project and their

presentation will be evaluated. Grading rubrics may guide students towards achieving and exceeding the standards of performance and help them to self-assess and revise their work. Moreover, the students may be more motivated if they participate in the development of the rubric (Klein, 2009). As far as the process of conducting project work is concerned, Dooley (2010) states that it is important to negotiate the amount of the target language. Thus, according to her, PBL does not necessarily mean 100% of target language use. Last, but not least, she mentions the necessity of giving students the freedom of choosing the topic of the project. In this respect, the students can either be given the chance to choose from a list of topics provided by the teacher, or bring their own list of real-life problems they are eager to solve.

## 2.5.3 Types of project work

There are diverse types and configurations of project work. Projects vary greatly in the amount of guidance from the teacher, the number of students working on the task, data collection techniques, the way information is reported, and the nature and sequence of project-related activities. There are two ways a project development can take place in terms of the role of the teacher. In one case, the teacher is the instructor and the guide of the learning process, while in the second case the teacher plays the role of a facilitator, and the students are the ones responsible for the planning and realization of the project (Baoming, 2006). As far as students involved in the project are concerned, Kilpatrick (1918) mentions that there can be either a number of them working cooperatively, or one person doing the purposeful activity, i.e. projects can be worked on in groups or individually. Stoller (1997) mentions that as far as data collection techniques and sources of information are concerned, projects can be of the following five types:

- 1. Research projects, which necessitate the gathering of information through library research.
- 2. Text projects, which involve encounters with "texts" (e.g., literature, reports, news media, video and audio material, or computer-based information) rather than people.

- 3. Correspondence projects, which require communication with individuals (or businesses, governmental agencies, schools, or chambers of commerce) to get information by means of letters, faxes, phone calls, or electronic mail.
- 4. Survey projects, which entail creating a survey instrument and then collecting and analyzing data from "informants."
- 5. Encounter projects, which result in face-to-face contact with guest speakers or individuals outside the classroom.

In relation to the way information is reported, Stoller (1997) differentiates the following types of projects:

- Production projects, which involve the creation of bulletin board displays, videos, radio programs, poster sessions, written reports, photo essays, letters, handbooks, brochures, banquet menus, travel itineraries, etc.
- *Performance projects*, which can take shape as staged debates, oral presentations, theatrical performances, food fairs, or fashion shows.
- Organizational projects, which entail the planning and formation of a club, conversation table, or conversation partner program.

As far as the nature and sequence of project-related activities are concerned, Stroller (1997) identifies the following 3 types:

- structured projects are determined, specified, and organized by the teacher in terms of topic, materials, methodology and presentation
- unstructured projects are defined largely by students themselves
- *semi-structured projects* are defined and organized in part by the teacher and in part by students

#### 2.5.4 Examples of project work

Alan & Stroller (2010) believe that the constructing details of project work depend to a great extent on the context within which the project is done. Such factors are program objectives,

available resources and facilities, etc. The authors later bring examples of projects intended for students of particular specialties or for those from particular countries. They even differentiate the topic of the project depending on geographical and other factors. Thus, the authors state that in Turkey, for example, a nice idea would be for students at higher education levels to engage in project work on soil erosion, which is a global contemporary issue, and come up with suggestions to solve the problem.

Alan & Stroller (2010) describe another variant of project for academic-English preparation first year students - exploring a self-selected topic somehow related to their majors. In any kind of project the authors suggest concluding with a number of suggestions and recommendations. The authors have also observed that EFL students tend to focus on issues typical to their countries and religions. For example, EFL students in Tunisian high schools, as part of their project work, investigated such unrelated topics as mining and traditional marriage practices. Later they presented their findings in video presentations.

Foss et al. (2007) suggest the following 4 types of projects:

- 1. The Wikipedia Project
- 2. The Newspaper Project
- 3. The Small-Groups Video Project
- 4. The Whole-Group Video Project

# The Wikipedia Project

Foss et al. (2007) believe that web-based projects display a large number of positive language learning features. For example, the authors believe that they foster authentic communication in the target language, they are flexible in terms of subject matter, and foster cooperative learning. Given these benefits, the authors find that projects involving the Internet-based encyclopedia Wikipedia an excellent choice. The students' duty is to create an attractive Wikipedia entry for the University and make a 15 minute power point presentation on the project. It is believed that the students are greatly interested in working on something real and

create an original Wikipedia entry on the topic of their choice and preference. Moreover, the creation of the Wikipedia entry and the final presentation helps the students to develop their English as well as technological skills and increase their motivation.

# The Newspaper Project

Different authors mention this project option as a rather effective way to learn a foreign language. Thus, for example, Foss et al. (2007) believe that this type of project facilitates the enhancement of writing and journalism skills, community involvement and teamwork, and fosters critical thinking. More advanced level students can enjoy the benefit of developing their reading and writing skills beyond typical exercises into real-world literary situations. Students' motivation also increases when they find out that they are able to interact with the outside world in their second language.

Newspaper projects are very flexible in terms of the variety of topics and the students' level of foreign language proficiency. During the process of working on the newspaper projects, students conduct research, interviews, write articles, and have them edited by their teachers. All these components contribute greatly to the enhancement of all four English language skills (Foss et.al 2007, Zehni 2011).

## Two Video Projects: Small Groups vs. Whole Group

Foss et al. (2007) mention that video dramas produced by students have always been considered an excellent EFL language learning activity. The reason is that they require a high degree of learner participation in a variety of ways. The authors believe that the benefits of video drama are very effective for speaking and pronunciation skills, intercultural awareness, and identity formation. It is also believed that these projects foster collaborative work and increase student motivation. To make the task clear to students, teachers are advised to show students teacher-made samples of video dramas to serve as a frame of reference. Also, teachers should make sure that students are familiar with computer editing programs and organize trainings if necessary. It is up to the teacher to impose the rules and assign the length of the film,

the number of characters in it. After the rules are assigned, students write the script. Later they shoot the video according to the script, edit it, and finally author a DVD. Each group is given a certain number of hours to film their project and to edit. When they are not filming or editing, they are acting in another group's movie. This way, each student gets involved in every step of the film-making process. One challenge that may occur with small group projects is that the instructor may not be able to be on hand at all times for intonation and pronunciation guidance, which may lead to misunderstanding and poor quality film. In this case, Foss et al. (2007) advise using whole group video projects so as to involve the whole group in the film-making process and create a longer movie. Each of these two options of video projects has its challenges and advantages. However, one pattern they have in common is that each student in the group has his/her role in the project, hence, very high responsibility.

The best and the most important samples of projects have been presented. Other options of project work and their possible outcomes suggested by scholars are illustrated in the chart below:

1. Brochure	2. Scrapbook
3. Class newspaper or wall newspaper	4. Research paper
5. Bulletin board display	6. Poster
7. Debate	8. Pin and string display
9. Graphic	10. Oral presentation
11. Guide book	12. Multimedia presentation
13. Handbook	14. Maquette
15. Information packet	16. Letter
17. Theatrical performance	18. Simulation
19. Video or film	20. Survey report
21. Website	22. Written report

(Alan & Stroller 2010, Foss et al. 2007, Zehni 2011).

The details of projects designed for EFL settings have been illustrated above. However, they may need to be modified to suit specific classrooms, taking into account the goals and objectives of teachers and students, etc. Foss et al. (2007) proposes the following recommendations for EFL teachers and material writers to integrate project-based instruction into their curricula:

- Devise projects taking into account students' immediate and future language
  needs and content interests. However, be cautious about institutional expectations
  and available resources.
- Specify language, content, task, skill, and strategy learning objectives according to students' needs and institutional expectations
- Try to integrate students in all stages of the project even if their contribution is very small. Ensure the following: 1) skills are integrated to achieve real communicative purposes, 2) students are required to use various strategies for meaningful purposes, 3) critical thinking is needed for successful task completion, and 4) students are held responsible for content learning.
- Create and include tasks that require both independent and collaborative work.
   Students should be able to come to an agreement about different team member responsibilities and feel accountable as an important link in a chain.
- Plan an opening activity that would bear some interest in students, give them background knowledge, and introduce important vocabulary.
- Provide students with explicit instruction so that they not only improve their language abilities but also succeed in the information gathering, processing, and reporting stages of the project.
- Allocate special time and effort for feedback both at the conclusion of the project and at other critical stages.

#### 2.5.5 Stages of conducting projects

Scholars give different sequence of actions in developing projects as well as give different names to them. Thus, for example, Dooly (2010) names the stages of project development *levels*, Fragoulis & Tsiplakides, (2009) use the term *stage* to describe these actions, Klein (2009) uses the term *planning-step*, and Stoller (1997) uses the word *step*. It should be noted here that these authors suggest different numbers of stages for project work. Some of them may come up with more global stages which include one or two steps representing an individual stage according to a different author. Thus, the elaborate description of the stages of project work based on the above mentioned authors is as follows:

- Step 1. Deciding the theme for the project (includes the selection of the topic, which takes place via a discussion both with the members of the project group and the teacher. The demands of the curriculum may also provide some stimuli to the students).
- Step 2: Determine the final product (students and instructor consider the nature of the project, its objectives, and the most appropriate means to culminate the project)
- *Step3*: Structuring the project (includes the distribution of roles among the group members, decisions on the methodology, information sources, types of activities, the places to be visited, etc).
- Step 4: Preparing students for the language demands of information gathering (If, for example, students are going to collect information by means of interviews, the instructor might plan exercises on question formation and allocate time for role-plays. If, on the other hand, students are going to use a library, the instructor might review steps for finding resources and practice skimming and note-taking with sample texts.
- Step 5: Gathering information (requires little demand for critical thinking, and involves primarily compiling information)
- Step 6: Preparing students for the language demands of compiling and analyzing data (setting up sessions in which students organize sets of materials, and then evaluate, analyze, and

interpret them determining which are most appropriate for the supporters and opponents of a given proposition).

Step 7: Compiling and analysis of information (students put the planned activities into practice. It is in this stage that they gather information, analyze and categorize it).

Step 8: Preparing students for the language demands of the culminating activity (practicing oral presentation skills and receiving feedback on voice projection, pronunciation, organization of ideas, and eye contact. It may involve editing and revising written reports, letters, or bulletin board display text).

Step 9: Presenting final product (the final product is presented to the public, and the school becomes connected to the public by means of the project).

Step 10: Evaluate the project (refers to the assessment of the activities, discussion of the achievements, identification of errors and appraisal, etc.).

# 2.6 Pros and cons of project-based instruction in language learning

The focus of this section is to describe what benefits project work can have in second/foreign language education as well as to state some challenges it may encounter.

The review of literature has shown that there is little research on project work in L2 education. Moreover, the existing research findings have revealed contradicting results. Thus, for example, some teachers have turned out to appreciate project learning, since they find it full of opportunities for comprehensible output and integrated teaching of content and skills. However, there have been cases when students felt frustrated because they found that project-based instruction prevented them from learning from the teacher and the textbook as well as from focusing on language skills because of the lack of explicit instruction, (Beckett, 2002, Moulton & Holmes, 2000).

As far as the benefits listed for project work are concerned, Fried-Booth (1986) mentions that one of the benefits of project work is its ability to fill the gap between the language the students are taught and the language they actually require. It is via project work that the students

gain the opportunity to understand concepts and standards at the heart of a project, community issues, explore careers, interact with adult mentors, use technology, and present their work to audiences beyond the classroom. PBL can motivate students who might otherwise find school boring or meaningless (Buck Institute for Education, 2011). Gardner (1995) and Coleman (1992) point out that project work is the best way to promote analytical and management skills. Backett (2002) mentions that for students to participate in social interactions, achieve academically in all content areas and use appropriate learning strategies to construct and apply academic knowledge project work should be implemented. Finally, many scholars and educators such as Barron & Darling-Hammond (2008), Hong Kong Curriculum Development Council (2001), Pearlman, (2006), and Sawyer (2006) believe in the capacity of project work to promote 21<sup>st</sup> century skills, which are as follows:

- critical thinking
- teamwork
- creativity
- cross-cultural understanding
- technology
- self-direction
- communication

As mentioned above, literature names also some challenges connected with conduction of project work. In this respect, The Center for Excellence in Learning (2009) considers PBL to be time consuming, the information flow is difficult to control for the teacher, there is lack of control over learners' behavior in the classroom, it is difficult to incorporate technology as a cognitive tool, etc. (Center of Excellence in Learning, 2009).

The above review of related literature on project work aimed at providing an insight into its characteristics, types and benefits, as well as its implications in second/foreign language education and its effect on language improvement. Based on the findings of the literature, the

current paper seeks to find the possible relationship between project work and foreign language achievement as well as the students' attitude towards project work. Thus, the research questions of this paper are the following:

- 1. To what extent does project work contribute to language achievement?
- 2. What are the learners' attitudes towards project work?

Because the literature review does not provide any definite and certain answer to these questions, the following null hypothesis is proposed:

There is no relationship between project work and learners' achievement.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### Methodology

#### Introduction

This study, as indicated in the previous chapter, primarily aims at finding whether there is a relationship between project work and language learning achievement. The research questions that guide through the process of this exploration are:

- 1. To what extent does project work contribute to language learning achievement?
- 2. What are learners' attitudes towards project work?

To gain insights into the issue, this study is accordingly designed within the traditions of both qualitative and quantitative research. Following a detailed description of the participants of the current study and the data collection instruments will be given, and information on the data collection procedure will be provided.

#### 3.1 Participants

Nineteen English for General Purposes (EGP) students studying at American University of Armenia participated in this study. EGP courses are 10 week language courses aiming at improving their language skills. The students have General English lessons twice a week, each lesson lasting 2 hours. The reason for choosing this particular class for the experiment was the following: project work is a rather challenging activity and may cause difficulties and even failure in case the students are not equipped with the knowledge and skills necessary to accomplish the project. Taking this factor into account, preference was given to samples having intermediate level of English proficiency. Thus, the participants of this study were students, ages ranging from 16 to 35. It is worth mentioning here, that the sample of the participants consisted

of both continuing students and those that had newly enrolled. The newly-enrolled students were placed at this level based on a placement test.

#### 3.2 Instrumentation

Five instruments were used in this study in order to obtain data on the effect of project work on language achievement and students' attitudes towards project work -1) pre-test, 2) three achievement tests 3) teacher observations, 4) open-ended questionnaire and 5) semi-structured interview.

#### 1. Pre-test

The pre-test design was based on the textbook the participants had covered in previous courses. It lasted 40 minutes and contained the following sections:

- listening comprehension
- reading comprehension
- grammar

The listening comprehension section lasted 10 minutes and included two tasks:

- Listen to the tape and circle T for "true" and F for "false" statements.
- Listen to a conversation about two friends and answer the questions.

The reading comprehension section also included two tasks. The first task required the students to read the story and answer the 3 comprehension questions. In the second task the students were 1) to match the headings with the appropriate paragraph and 2) circle T for "true" and F for "false" statements.

Finally, *the grammar section* checked the students' knowledge of grammar via 8 multiple choice items.

Overall, the test included 30 items and totaled 30 points. It is also important to note that the pre-test was designed by the researcher and approved by the supervisor of the research (Appendix A). The aim of the pre-test was to identify the students' knowledge of English and to make sure that they had the same language proficiency level.

#### 2. Observations

The observations aimed at gaining some insight into and obtaining some qualitative data on the process of working on the project. However, during the course of instruction, the observations turned into consultations between the students and the researcher. At the beginning of each lesson the researcher was given some 25-30 minutes to discuss the details connected with the project work, give instructions and answer the students' questions. As far as classroom work on the project is concerned, it should be mentioned that it didn't take place and the students did all the work at home and communicated with their group mates via e-mail.

#### 3. Questionnaire

The questionnaire (see Appendix D) was close-ended, in that it contained 7 close-ended statements but provided space at the end for the participants to write additional comments. The inclusion of comments in the questionnaire served the purpose to give some insight and guide the researcher towards the interview questions. The participants were asked to indicate the degree of their agreement or disagreement with the statements. Response options were coded into 5 categories: (1) strongly disagree; (2) disagree; (3) neither agree nor disagree; (4) agree; (5) strongly agree. The questionnaire was distributed to the members of the experimental group of the study aiming at finding the participants' attitudes towards the project and their experience of working on it. The students were requested to respond to the statements by placing a check mark next to their choice of answers. The questionnaire was conducted in English.

## 4. Interviews

Semi-structured interview: After the experiment, a semi-structured interview was conducted in small groups with all the representatives of the experimental group who were present at the last lesson (7 students overall). The interview was held with one group of three and one group of four and lasted approximately 15 minutes each. The interviews were recorded for later analysis. Three main questions were addressed to the interviewees:

- 1. Did you like the project in general? Do you think project work is an effective way to learn English? Why?
- 2. Can you name some advantages and disadvantages of project work?
- 3. Do you think that project work helped you to develop your English? If yes, what skills do you think project work helped you to develop?

The interview questions were planned to be elicited from the open-ended part of the questionnaire. However, since only 2 students had additional comments in the questionnaire, the researcher designed the interview questions by combining some questions of the questionnaire into one interview question. The aim of the interview was to add qualitative information to the data obtained from the questionnaire and to go deeper into the students' opinions and have them share their thoughts. Thus, the participants were interviewed and asked to reflect on their overall experience of working on the project and give their opinion whether or not they thought project work contributed to their language learning. The interview was conducted in English and was transcribed for later analysis.

## 5. Achievement tests

Within the course of instruction the participants of both the control and the experimental took three achievement tests, and it was decided to use these achievement tests as a means to check the students' language level. The achievement tests were EGP tests designed by the Department of English Programs of the American University of Armenia. Each test was based on the materials covered during three units of the textbook. The tests followed the same format and measured the same language skills. Thus, each test had three sections:

Section one - *comprehension* which includes two listening and two reading comprehension activities with multiple choice and gap-filling items

Section two - *comprehension and production* which includes such items as picture description and sentence completion

Section three – production the task of which is to write a paragraph on the given topic.

It should be mentioned here, that the sections of were given different amount of scores in each test. The reason is that two of the tests were given 40 points and the other one was given 30 points. In order to avoid later inconsistency during the analysis of the data and to prevent unreliable results, the tests were given the same scale and rescored by two raters for the purposes of this study.

#### 3.3 Data collection procedure

The steps of data collection procedure were as follows:

- 1. Two groups consisting of 9 (experimental) and 12 (control) EGP students, their level being 4A (intermediate), were chosen for this study. Both groups had intermediate level of English proficiency based on the placement and final test results (some of the students were continuing students who had passed final tests others were newly enrolled students who had been placed in these groups after the placement test). During the second lesson, a pre-test was administered to both groups to determine their language level and find out if there was any difference in their English language knowledge.
- 2. On the second day of instruction the researcher met both groups to give the pre-tests of the study. The aim of the pre-test was explained to the groups in order to avoid misunderstanding and misconception. The students' role in the experiment was explained to them, and the participants were informed that their role was crucial in the experiment. In addition, the researcher distributed guidelines (see Appendix C) which described the project, provided deadlines for the steps of its completion and some suggestions and advice for the students to consider when working on the project. These suggestions were further used as the criteria for the grading rubric. After distributing the guidelines, the researcher discussed them with the students. On this day, the groups were formed. There was one group of three, one group of two, and three remaining students who expressed a desire to work individually were given permission to do so. The reason why the students were allowed to choose the number of their group mates was that the purpose of the project work was not to measure the effect of group work on students'

achievement; rather, the researcher's aim was to see the effect of project work on their language achievement. To that end there was no restriction in terms of number of group members.

The project was making a *Class magazine*. The description of the steps of the project is as follows:

- Brainstorming types of magazines and the sections that can be found in them.
- Explaining to the groups that during the period of instruction (10 weeks) they were to pick a topic from their textbook (here the students were informed that the teacher would be an editor and a facilitator and they could turn to her every time they had a question and needed guidance). Choosing the type of magazine and the topics the groups would like to touch upon in the magazines they were to create.
- Writing articles, finding several from the Internet and other sources related to their topics and editing them (out of the classroom).
- Handing in the first draft of the project during week 7 for the teacher to correct.
- Work towards improving the work based on the corrections made by the teacher and towards the design of the magazine.
- Handing in both the final versions of the newspaper and making a group presentation on it (the deadline of the final version was the tenth week of instruction).
- 3. During the whole course of instruction the researcher observed every lesson and was given 20-25 minutes at the beginning of each lesson to discuss the work the students did, solve problems that were connected with the project, collect and hand in drafts, give directions, etc. Thus, with very little shift form the guidelines, each group sent to the researcher the piece of work they had done and received feedback within maximum two days.
- 4. On the last day of instruction the groups made a power point presentation on their projects in front of the whole class.
- 5. On the first day of week 10 attitudinal questionnaires were administered to the members of the experimental group (see Appendix D), They were allowed to take them home, fill them in

and return them during the next class. The purpose of the questionnaire was to answer the second research question, i.e. find out the experimental students' opinion on project work and evaluate its effectiveness. On the last day, the students of the experimental group were asked to come 30 minutes earlier to be interviewed. The purpose of the interview was to gain some qualitative data on their attitudes towards project work. The students were interviewed in one group of two and one group of four. The interview was built on 3 basic questions and lasted approximately 10 minutes.

#### 2.4 Data analysis

The data for the present study was both quantitative, from the questionnaire and the tests, and qualitative from the interview and observations. For the quantitative data analysis the data obtained from the tests and the questionnaires were transferred into percentages (Table 1) and analyzed via SPSS package.

For the qualitative data analysis, the interview was first transcribed, then analyzed and discussed according to the common themes. The notes made during observations were also analyzed to enrich the findings of the research and add more qualitative data to them. This investigation, which included the learners' tests, questionnaires, observations and interviews, provided rich data to address the research questions.

#### CHAPTER FOUR

#### 4. Results and discussion

This section reports on the findings of the research on the effect of project work on students' language learning achievement. The section provides details on the analysis of the data collection instruments, i.e. tests (one pre-test and three achievement tests), questionnaire, observations and the interview, and concludes with a summary of findings.

#### 4.1 Analysis of the quantitative data

Quantitative data for this study have been obtained from the pre-test, the achievement tests and the questionnaire. The pre-test and the achievement tests were distributed to both the control and the experimental groups, while the questionnaires were distributed to the experimental group only. For the analysis of the pre-test and the achievement tests three statistical tests were applied - Mann-Whitney U Test, Friedman Test, and Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test. The choice of these tests was based on the fact that the sample size was less than thirty. The attitudinal questionnaires were analyzed through frequency analysis.

#### 4.1.1 Pre-test and achievement test analysis

In order to make the data obtained from the tests reliable it was re-graded and re-scored. Two independent raters were involved in this process in order to achieve interrater reliability. As far as the reason for rescoring of the tests is concerned, it is important to mention that the tests were not consistent in terms of the scores given to each section of the test. Although the tests consisted of the same sections, different tests gave different points to different sections.

Moreover, two of the tests scored 30 points total, and the other two scored 40 points total.

However, what is most important to mention here is the fact that all the achievement tests tested the skills equally, i.e. no skill was given more attention and privilege in any test. Thus, to avoid unreliable results, the tests were rescored, i.e. the points of the tests were redistributed evenly

over the different tasks, only after this they were re-graded by two raters. The average score of the two raters was considered as the final sore. The analysis of this data revealed whether there was any difference between the control and experimental groups both in the pre test and in the achievement tests. The analysis was made with the help of SPSS package. The alpha level for all three tests was 0.05. It means that if the *p* value was less than 0.05, there would be significant difference between the pairs in comparison.

For between group comparisons non-parametric Mann-Whitney U Test was applied. The choice of the test was based on the fact that the sample size was less than thirty. This comparison spread light on the difference between the control and the experimental groups in all 4 tests. As the analysis showed the groups were significantly different in terms of the pre test. Thus, the *p* value is 0.031, which is less than 0.05 (Table 6). This means that this difference is in favor of the control group and the control group performed better in the pre test than the experimental group.

Mann-Whitney U Test: Significance of test results

	pretest	test1	quiz1	test2
Mann-Whitney U	11,500	27,000	31,000	37,000
Wilcoxon W	39,500	93,000	59,000	65,000
Z	-2,139	-1,042	-,053	-,136
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,032	,297	,958	,892
Exact Sig. [2*(1-tailed Sig.)]	,031 <sup>a</sup>	,328 <sup>a</sup>	1,000 <sup>a</sup>	,930ª

a. Not corrected for ties.

As far as the other three achievement tests are concerned, the Mann-Whitney U Test showed no significant difference between the two groups. For test 1 the p value is equal 0.328, for quiz 1, p=1, and for test 2, p=0.930. All of these values are bigger than 0.05 which indicates no significant difference. It means that the control and the experimental groups performed equally during the achievement tests.

b. Grouping Variable: group

In order to find out if the results of the tests are significant within each group, Friedman Test was used for both control and experimental groups.

Friedman Test: Significance of test results for the experimental group

N	5
Chi-Square	11,571
df	3
Asymp. Sig.	,009

a. group = experimental

b. Friedman Test

#### Friedman Test: Significance of test results for the control group

N	8
Chi-Square	11,038
df	3
Asymp. Sig.	,012

a. group = control

b. Friedman Test

As the table show, the exact significance of p is less 0.009 for the experimental group and 0.012 for the control group.

The Friedman test showed that the participants of the study in control and experimental groups demonstrated improved language skills. In order to see the difference between the students' performance for each test two by two within group comparison with Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was applied. The description of the analysis is the following.

### Comparison of pre- test and test1 in experimental and control groups

	test1 - pretest
Z	-2.201 <sup>a</sup>

Asymp.	
Sig. (2-	.028
tailed)	

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

	test1 - pretest
Z	-2.073 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	.038

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

As shown in the tables above, both in the experimental and in the control groups there is significant improvement in students' performance in test 1. The p value for the experimental group is 0.028, and for the control group it is 0.038. Both of these values are less than the alpha level (0.05). It means that the students made significant progress from pre-test to test 1.

The next analysis is connected with the pre-test and quiz 1.

## Comparison of pre- test and quiz1 in experimental and control groups

	quiz1 - pretest
Z	-2,201 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,028

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

	quiz1 - pretest
Z	-2,375 <sup>a</sup>

Asymp. Sig. (2-	,018
tailed)	

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

As the table shows, both groups have significant difference from pre-test to the second achievement test – quiz 1 (p=0.028 for the experimental group p= 0.018 for the control group, which are less than 0.05). The experimental and control group students' language achievement is significantly higher in quiz 1 than in the pre-test.

Continuing the analysis, the pre-test results of the students of both control and experimental groups was compared with their last achievement test.

Comparison of pre- test and test2 in experimental and control groups

	test2 - pretest
Z	-2,201 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,028

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

	test2 - pretest
Z	-1,836 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,066

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

As shown in the tables above, the students of both the control and experimental groups had significant improvement. The exact significance for the experimental group is 0.028, and for the control group it is 0.066. These values are less than the alpha level of 0.05, which shows that the students improved during the period between pre-test and test 2.

A different picture is observed in the analysis of the comparison between quiz 1 and test 1. The significance is in favor of test one, i.e. the *p* value is more than 0.05 for both groups (Table 15, 16).

# Comparison of test1 and quiz1 in experimental and control groups

	quiz1 - test1
Z	-,105 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,917

- a. Based on positive ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

# Comparison of test1 and quiz1 in experimental and control groups

	quiz1 - test1
Z	-1,125 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2- tailed)	,260

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

These results mean that the students performed better in test 1 than in quiz 1. It also means that they didn't have any improvement during this period.

## Comparison of test1 and test2 in experimental and control groups

groups	
	test2 - test1
Z	-1,992 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,046

- a. Based on positive ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

	test2 - test1
Z	,000 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	1,000

- a. The sum of negative ranks equals the sum of positive ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test used to compare the control and experimental group students' achievement in test 2 in comparison with test 1 shows slightly different results for these groups. For example, the experimental group recorded a significant difference. The p value is 0.046. However, this difference is in favor of test 1. This means that there the experimental group students' performance during test one is significantly higher than that in test 2, which came later during the instruction. As far as the control group student' performance is concerned, the *p* value in this case is 1.00, which is higher than 0.05. Thus, there is no significant difference in the control group's students' performances between test 1 and test 2.

The last Wilcoxon Signed Ranks analysis was used to compare the experimental and control group's students' performance between quiz 1 and the last achievement test – test 2.

Comparison of quiz1 and test2 in experimental group

8	·-P
	test2 - quiz1
Z	-1,572 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,116

- a. Based on positive ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

	test2 - quiz1
Z	-,980 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,327

- a. Based on positive ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

As can be concluded from these tables, neither of the groups had any significant difference in the performance from quiz 1 to test 2. The p value for the experimental group is 0.126, and for the control group it is 0.327. Since both these values are not less than 0.05, no significant difference in their performance between quiz 1 and test 2 can be observed.

To sum up, the following conclusions can be made. The students of the control group performed significantly better in the pre test, than the experimental group. However, the analysis of their performance after the instruction shows no significant difference between the performance of the experimental and control groups. These groups achieved almost equal language level at the end of their 10 week study course. One important fact to notice here is that the students' achievement was recorded at the beginning of instruction (as shown by two by two within group comparison with Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test). Both control and experimental group students' language abilities improved from the first test, i.e. pre-test to the following two tests, i.e. test 1 and quiz 1 is. Later their language level remains the same. Reasons for such a stop in their progress may vary, such as decrease of students' motivation, change in their attitude toward the course, etc. Taking into account these results, it can be concluded that the null hypothesis proposed at the beginning of this study is supported, and the analysis proves that there is no relationship between students' language achievement and project work they did during the course.

#### 4.1.2 Questionnaire analysis

The data collected by means of the questionnaire is presented in the following charts in percentages.

As illustrated in Appendix D and bellow, the student questionnaire contained a chart at the beginning with different adjectives both positive and negative, and the students had to choose three adjectives which best characterized the project they created. The chart of the questionnaire is illustrated below:

challenging	enjoyable	worthwhile	scary	useful	interesting	exciting
tedious	unrewarding	straightforward	frustrating	time- consuming	hard	difficult

The analysis of this part of the questionnaire revealed the following results:

Data analysis on students' responses to the questionnaire in percentages

useful -55.5	hard – 22.2
exciting – 44.4	time-consuming – 11.1
interesting – 44,4	unrewarding – 11.1
enjoyable -33.3	difficult – 11.1

According to the table, more than half of the participants (55.5%) chose the word "useful" as one of the characteristics of project work. Two other adjectives were given equal preference by the participants (44.4%) -"exciting" and "interesting". 33.3% of the participants found the project "enjoyable". 22.2% of the participants chose the adjective "hard" as one of the best characteristics of the project they worked on during the term. Other three adjectives that

again had equal preferences on part of the participants (11.1%) were "time consuming", "unrewarding", and "difficult". The other adjectives that were included in the chart of the questionnaire (challenging, tedious, worthwhile, straightforward, scary, and frustrating) were given no preference by the participants of the study. Thus, it can be inferred from these responses that the participants of the experimental group found project work to be a useful, exciting, interesting, and enjoyable experiment, although they also found it difficult, time consuming, hard, and unrewarding to some degree.

Following the results of the data obtained from the 7 statements of the questionnaire are provided.

Table 4. Data analysis on students' responses to the questionnaire in percentages

Questions	Strongly agree	Agree	Neither agree nor disagree	Disagree	Strongly disagree
Q1	33.3	66.6	0	0	0
Q2	22.2	55.5	11.1	11.1	0
Q3	22.2	55.5	11.1	11.1	0
Q4	33.3	22.2	22.2	22.2	0
Q5	33.3	44.4	11.1	11.1	0
Q6	33.3	22.2	33.3	11.1	0
Q7	22.2	55.5	22.2	0	0

The first statement of the questionnaire referred to whether students found working on the project a useful and beneficial experience. According to Table 4, 66.6% of the participants agreed with this statement, 33.3% strongly agreed. There was no student among the participants that showed disagreement and strong disagreement, or expressed neutral position in this regard.

The second statement was the following: "The stages of the project helped me understand my learning progress in English". More than half of the students, i.e. 55.5%, agreed with the statement, 22.2% strongly agreed, while 11.1% disagreed and another 11.1% neither agreed nor disagreed with the statement.

For statement 3 more than half of the participants, i.e. 55.5% agreed that they found the time and effort they spent on the project reasonable. Moreover, 22.2% strongly agreed with that statement. However, 11.1% disagreed and again, 11.1% neither agreed nor disagreed with it.

Statement 4 of the questionnaire stated the following: "The project helped me identify what type of problems I had in learning English". There is almost an equal distribution of percentages representing 22.2% agreement and 22.2% disagreement, 22.2% neutrality and 33.3% strong agreement with the statement.

According to the table, 44.4% of the students agreed and 33.3% of the participants strongly agreed with statement 5 of the questionnaire, that project work helped them feel more responsible for their learning. 11.1% neither agreed nor disagreed, and 11.1% of the participants disagreed with the statement.

There is some controversy regarding the responses to statement 6 of the questionnaire (I like doing project work better than doing homework assignments every day). Thus, an equal number of participants, i.e. 33.3% strongly agreed and neither agreed not disagreed with it.

22.2% agreed with this statement and 11.1% expressed disagreement with it.

Statement 7 of the questionnaire expresses the idea that project work helps to learn English more effectively. As can be seen from Table 4, more than half of the respondents (55.5%) said that they agree with that idea, 22.2% expressed strong agreement, and 22.2% neither agreed nor disagreed.

Above the data obtained from the close ended statements of the questionnaire was represented. However, the questionnaire contained free space at the end for the students to make additional comments. As far as this part of the questionnaire is concerned, it should be

mentioned that although not all the students used the space for additional comments to add any ideas about project work, those using it expressed only positive and encouraging opinions. Thus, one of the students mentioned that he/she would like to have projects like those further in his/her studies of English. Another student expressed the idea that "it was really interesting to do something creative during studies".

To sum up the result obtained from the analysis of the questionnaire, it can be concluded that the experimental group's students' overall perception of project work was positive. They find it a useful, exciting and interesting activity. From their responses it can be concluded that they consider project work a beneficial activity for studying a foreign language. Moreover, the students find the efforts spent on the project reasonable and worthwhile, for it helped them realize their learning progress, feel responsible for it and learn the language in a more effective way.

#### 4.2 Analysis if the qualitative data

#### 4.2.1 Interview analysis

This section of the paper reports on the results of the analysis of the qualitative data obtained from student interviews, the aim of which was to answer the second research question and gain some qualitative data on the students' attitudes towards project work. As mentioned in Chapter 3, the interview did not take place with individual students; rather, the students were randomly divided into two groups (one group of four and one group of 3) and interviewed. Despite the fact that the students were interviewed in groups, they were given equal chances by the interviewer to express their opinions and share ideas on each interview question. In this respect, the researcher tried to engage everybody in the discussion and elicit answers from the participants.

The following questions were addressed to the participants.

1. Did you like the project in general, and do you think project work is an effective way to learn English? Why?

- 2. Can you name some advantages and disadvantages of project work?
- 3. Do you think that project work helped you to develop your English? If yes, what skills do you think project work helped you to develop?

The description of the answers given to these questions by the participants is as follows:

- 1. The first interview question aimed at finding out students' overall impression about the project. The answers to this question were positive. All the students mentioned that they liked the project a lot and that it was an "effective" and "interesting" experience for them. One of the students mentioned that before starting the project, when still getting instructions, the project seemed "dull and scary". However, after some time, the work on the project became an enjoyable experience. Another student added that if "one wants to learn, project work is a good way to do so". Also, there was an opinion that project work is good only if the group works collaboratively and all the members are actively engaged in finding and writing articles as well as editing them.
- 2. The second interview question aimed to find out the advantages and disadvantages of project work, according to the participants. Some of the students answered that the project was a good tool for learning English and there was nothing that needs improvement in it. However, some disadvantages were mentioned by other participants of the interview. These are the following:
- lack of time: a student mentioned that if she had more time she could do a much better job.
- lack of speaking and communication: one of the students expressed an idea that overall the project was good, but it didn't help to develop her speaking. Another student said that it would be good to use class time to work on the projects and have more opportunity to speak and communicate.

- danger of not being understood by other readers: one student mentioned that few people will understand "what the magazine is about", because there are many difficult words in it.
- restrictions connected with the choice of topic: one student mentioned that it would be "good to have an open topic" and not to be forced to choose a topic from the textbook.
- 3. Question three of the interview aimed to elicit information about the language skills that project work helps to develop, according to the participants. Some answers to the question were common for several students. Thus, the students mentioned that project work helped them to develop such language skills and sub-skills as writing, vocabulary, making presentations, doing translations, guessing the meaning of words from the context, etc. Writing was the skill that was mentioned by most of the participants. They mentioned that it was a great contribution to the development of their writing to regularly receive feedback on their original articles and compare and contrast them understanding the differences and improving writing in the end. As for vocabulary, the students mentioned that reading and editing so many articles helped them to learn new words. There were also opinions that there it was easier for them to guess what a word meant without knowing its exact translation or meaning. As far as translations are concerned, it should be mentioned that one of the students preferred to do translations from Russian into English rather than writing original articles. This student stated that at first it was challenging, because she understood the meaning of all the words but couldn't construct a grammatically correct sentence. However, over time she noticed that her translation skills were getting better and better and contained fewer corrections when given feedback. Finally, some of the students mentioned that project work helped them to develop presentation skills because they practiced their speeches before the presentations. In general, they liked the idea of making presentations in front of the public.

#### 4.3 Discussion

The purpose of this study was to address two questions: first, to find out whether project work contributes to students' language achievement, and second, to inquire what students' attitudes toward project work were. Two research questions were proposed and a null hypothesis was formulated based on the review of the related literature. The data obtained from the study were quantitative from the 4 tests and the attitudinal questionnaires and qualitative from the interviews and observations. The qualitative data of the test scores was analyzed via SPSS software package using Mann-Whitney U Test, Friedmand Tests and Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test. The results of the questionnaire were analyzed by means of frequency analysis.

The results of the analysis revealed that there was no significant difference in terms of language improvement between the experimental and control groups at the end of instruction. Both groups, regardless of being assigned project work or not, performed equally during the achievement tests they were given during the ten week course. However, the analysis of the questionnaire administered in the experimental group at the end of the classes also provided with the following data. The students of the experimental group highly appreciated their experience of doing project work and working collaboratively with their peers. They found it beneficial for their studies and felt that it contributed greatly to their language achievement.

Similar opinions were expressed during the interviews. The qualitative data obtained from the observations and interviews showed that learners of the experimental group favored project work. According to their responses, they greatly benefited from project work as it helped them to develop their writing skills, their vocabulary, presentation, translation skills, the skill of guessing the meaning of words from the context, etc. and finally helped them to work collaboratively. They mentioned that it was a great contribution to the development of their writing to regularly receive feedback on their original articles.

From the findings of the current study, it can be concluded that despite the fact that project work may not provide with significantly higher language achievement in comparison

with traditional education, however, this technique is worth implementing during the teaching English as a second/foreign language, for a very important reason – the students favor it greatly and do it with great satisfaction and enjoyment. These findings indicate that the null hypothesis of the current study is supported and there is no relationship between project work and students' language achievement. Meanwhile, project work remains an advisable tool to use in the classroom taking into account students' responses and preferences.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### 5. Conclusions

In this chapter of the thesis the summary of findings of this study will be provided, which will be followed by the description of the limitations of the research. Based on these limitations suggestions for further research will be given and the implications will be discussed. The aim of the study was to answer the following questions:

- To what extent does project work contribute to language achievement?
- What are the learners' attitudes towards project work?

#### 5.1 Findings

The purpose of this paper was twofold: first, to find out if project work had any effect on the learners' language achievement or not, and second, to inquire into learners' attitudes towards note-taking during listening activities. Correspondingly, two research questions were formulated, one aiming at finding out if project work has any effect on students' language achievement, and another concerning students' attitudes towards project work. Based on the review of the related literature, the underlying assumption was that there was no relationship between project work and students' language achievement. In order to find out an answer to the first research question, a pre test was conducted both in control and experimental groups, which was followed by three achievement tests during the course of instruction. The results of these tests were analyzed via SPSS software package and showed there was no difference between the performance of these groups and the implementation of project work did not improve students' language abilities better than classic instruction.

As far as the second question of the study is concerned, a questionnaire and an interview were conducted to address it. On the last day of the classes learners of the experimental group were asked to fill in a questionnaires inquiring about their attitudes towards project. Later, a group interview took place with he students on the same issue. Results of both questionnaires

and interviews revealed that students enjoyed project work and found it beneficial for their studies.

To conclude, it may be claimed that project work was not significantly better than classic instruction in terms of students' language achievement. However, project work remains an advisable tool to use in the classroom taking into account students' responses and preferences.

#### 5.2 Limitations

It is important to acknowledge a limitation of this study. Due to the small number of participants, and the fact that findings from just one study are presented, care should be taken in generalizing the research findings. Project-based instruction was implemented at only one level of L2 instruction and in only one context which may again prevent from gaining results that can be generalized. Another limitation that should be mentioned is its duration. A longitudinal study might reveal more reliable results.

One of the most important limitations of this study is that the sample was not chosen randomly. Rather, the researcher chose a sample which would have a higher level of English language proficiency and would be more capable to work on the project. The absence of randomization might have affected the results of the study.

#### 5.3 Implications and applications

This study revealed the following results: project work did not seem to help students significantly improve their language skills. They gained the same language level as did the participants of the groups that was taught with regular instruction and was not assigned project work. However, the project work became very favorable for the learners as was elicited from their responses to the questionnaire and the questionnaire. The students mentioned that they enjoyed working on project work and it was a very useful and pleasurable experience for them. From these data, it can be implied, that the fact that project work doesn't always provide significantly higher level of language achievement than regular instruction should not prevent teachers and instructors use this technique in their classrooms. There is a strong ground —

students' attitudes. It is common knowledge that the creation of flexible and learner-centered atmosphere may be beneficial for the learning process. Any responsible teacher's aim is to have lessons that are interesting and enjoyable for learners. It is important to be sure that the students do their assignments with pleasure and realize their importance and usefulness. Taking these factors into account, and based on the results of currents studies supporting the importance of considering students' preferences and likes and integrating them in the teaching process, I would strongly recommend implementing project work as a means to contributing the learning process. This would be worthwhile in terms of students' motivation and readiness to work and enjoy their foreign language learning process.

#### **5.4 Suggestions for further research**

In light of the current study results the following studies can be suggested:

- Further research can be conducted to find out the effectiveness of assigning several smaller and less time consuming projects during one course and see to what extent they can contribute to students' language achievement.
- 2. Further research is needed which would have a bigger sample size so as to generalize the obtained data.
- 3. During the study, it was observed that the project used was quite demanding in terms of writing skills. Thus, the same magazine project can be used to find out its effectiveness on not general language abilities, but on writing abilities in particular.
- 4. Further research is needed to explore the effectiveness of other project-based instruction in the preparatory and university stages.
- 5. Other studies are needed to investigate the effectiveness of applying a similar project over a longer period of time on students' skills.
- 6. Research may also be conducted to examine administrators' and parents' evaluations of project-based instruction and explore the reasons for discrepancies in their evaluations if there are any.

7.	An implication for further research is to examine the relation between short-term project
	work and students' communicative competence, and the effect of projects on the self-esteem
	of students with low performance

#### **BIBLIOGRAPY**

- Alan, B. & Stoller, F. (2005). Maximizing the benefits of project work in foreign language classrooms. *English Teaching Forum Online, 43*(4). Retrieved Febrary 10, 2011 from exchanges.state.gov/forum/vols/vol43/no4/p10.htm
- Alan, B. & Stroller, F. L. (2005). Maximizing the Benefits of Project Work in Foreign Language Classrooms. *English Teaching Forum*, 43(4). 10-22
- Baoming, W. (2006). The theory and implementation of the project method in technology education.

  Neihu Vocational High School, 1-17.
- Beckett, G. H. (2002). Teacher and student evaluations of project-based instruction. *TESL Canada Journal*, 19(2), 52–66.
- Beckett, G. (2005). Academic Language and Literature Socialization through Project-Based Instruction: ESL Student Perspectives and issues. *Journal of Asian Pacific Communication*, 0957-6851(15), 191-206
- Behman, Ö. (2010). Effects of Multiple Intelligences Supported Project-Based Learning on Students' Achievement Levels and Attitudes towards English Lesson. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*. 2(3),1-22
- Benson, P. 2005. *Autonomy in Language Teaching*. Beijing: Beijing Foreign Language Teaching and Research Press.
- Barron, B., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2008). Teaching for meaningful learning. In L. Darling
- Buck Institute for Education, (2011). *Project-Based Learning for the 21th Century*. Downloaded from www.bie.org/about/what is pbl
- Byrne, D. (1988). *Teaching writing skills*. New York: Longman.
- Center of Excellence in Learning (2009. June). Summary of research on project-based learning.

  University of Indiana, 1-3.
- Charters, W. W. (1923). *Curriculum construction*. New York: Macmillan. In Waks, L. J. (1997). *The project method in postindustrial education*. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 29, (4), 391-406.

- Coleman, J.A. (1992). Project-based learning, transferable skills, information technology and video. *Language Learning Journal*, *5*, 35-37.
- Dewey, J. (1938): Experience and education. *The later works of John Dewey* (Vol. 13). Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press, 1-62.
- Dooly, M. (2010). Their hopes and fears: A catalyst for project-based language learning. 99-132.
- Feez, S. (1998) Task-Based Syllabus Design. Sidney. National Center for English teaching and research.
- Foss, P., Carney, N., McDonald, K. and Rooks, M. (2007). Project-based learning activities for short-term intensive English programs. *Asian EFL Journal*, *23*(2), 1-14.
- Fragoulis, I. & Tsiplakides, I. (2009). Project-based learning in the teaching of English as a foreign language in Greek primary schools: from theory to practice. English *Language Teaching*, *2*(3), 113-119.
- Gardner, D. (1995). Student produced video documentary provides a real reason for using the target language. *Language Learning Journal*, 12, 54-56.
- Gu, Peiya & Fang, Ying (2003). Project-Based Learning with Technology on the Principle of Constructivism. Foreign Language and Their Teaching, 3, 28-31.
- Haines, S. (1989). *Projects for the EFL classroom: Resource material for teachers*. Walton-0n-Thames Survey, United Kingdom: Nelson.
- Hammond, B. Barron, D. Pearson, A. H. Schoenfeld, E. K. Stage, T. D. Zimmerman, G. N. Cervetti, & J. L. Tilson (Eds.), Powerful learning: What we know about teaching for understanding (pp. 11–70). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Helle, L., Tynjala, P., & Olkinuora, E. (2006). Project-based learning in post-secondary education Theory, practice and rubber sling shots. *Higher Education*, *51*, 278–314.
- Hong Kong Curriculum Development Council. (2001). Learning to learn: The way forward in curriculum development consultation document. Hong Kong: Printing Department. Available at: <a href="https://www.edb.gov.hk/index.aspx?langno=1&nodeid=2877">www.edb.gov.hk/index.aspx?langno=1&nodeid=2877</a>

- Ke, L. (2010). Project-based college English: An approach to teaching non-English majors. *Chinese Journal of Applied Linguistics (Bimonthly)*, 33(4), 1-14.
- Kilpatrick, W. H. (1925). Foundations of method: Informal talks on teaching. New York: Macmillan.
- Kilpatrick, W. H. (1921). Dangers and difficulties of the project method ad how to overcome them: Introductory state and definition of terms. *Teachers College Record*, *22*, 283-288.
- Knoll, M. (1997). The project method: Its vocational education origin and international development. *Journal of Industrial Teacher Education*, 34(3), 1-14.
- Krajcik, J. S., & Blumenfeld, P. C. (2006). Project-based learning. In K. Sawyer (Ed.), Cambridge handbook of the learning sciences (pp. 317–334). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Mohan, B. (1986). Language and content. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley
- Moss, D. & Van Duzer, C. (1998). *Project-based learning for adult English language learners*. National Clearinghouse for ESL Literacy Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED427556)
- Moulton, M. R. & Holmes, V. L. (2000). An ESL capstone course: Integrating research tools, techniques, and technology. TESOL Journal, 9(2), 23–29.
- Nunnan, D. (1989). *Designing Tasks for the Communicative Classroom*. New York. Cambridge University Press
- Ochs, E. (1990). Indexicality and socialization. In J. W. Stigler, R. A. Shweder, & G. Herdt (Eds.), *Cultural psychology: Essays on comparative human development* (pp. 287–308). Cambridge, MA: Cambridge University Press.
- Pearlman, B. (2006). New skills for a new century: Students thrive on cooperation and problem solving. Edutopia Magazine. Available at: <a href="https://www.edutopia.org/new-skills-new-century">www.edutopia.org/new-skills-new-century</a>
- Richarsd, J. & Rodgers, Th. (2001). *Approaches and Methods in Language Teaching*. New York. Cambridge University Press.
- Robinson, P. (1991). ESP (English for specific purposes). New York: Pergamon

- Sawyer, R. K. (2006). Education for innovation, Thinking Skills and Creativity, 1, 41–48.
- Snow, M. A. & Brinton, D. M. 1988. Content-based language instruction: Investigating the effectiveness of the adjunct model. *TESOL Quarterly*, 22(4), 553-574.
- SRI International (2009. August). *The Power of Project Learning with ThinkQuest*. Menlo Park, CA.

  Downloaded from www.thinkquest.org/promotion/white\_papers/WhitePaper.pdf
- Stroller, L. F. (1997). Project work: A means to promote language content. *Project-Based Second and Foreign Language education: past, present, and future, 35*(4), 1-22.
- Tessema, K. A. (2005). Stimulating Writing through Project-Based Tasks. *English Teaching Forum*, 43(4).
- Thomas, J. W. (2000). A review of project-based learning. A report prepared for The Autodesk Foundation, San Rafael, CA. Available at: <a href="www.bie.org/files/researchreviewPBL\_1.pdf">www.bie.org/files/researchreviewPBL\_1.pdf</a>
- Tomei, J., Glick, C. & Holst, M. 1999. Project work in the Japanese university classroom. *The Language Teacher*, 23(3), 5-8
- Willis, D. & Willis J. (2007). Doing Task-Based Teaching. Oxford University press.
- Zhao, Yuqin. (2004). A Project-Based Language Package for Ph.D Candidates at HIT. *CELEA Journal*, 27(4), 95-98.

Appendix A: Pre - test
American University of Armenian
Department of English Programs
EGP 4A

Name			Time:
40 min	utes		
<b>A</b> . l	istening comprehension		
A1.	Listen to the tape and circle T for "true" and F for "false" se	ntenc	ces.
:	The only way to make friends is to be nice to people.	Т	F
;	<ol> <li>The woman believes that to be good friends people should be alike.</li> </ol>	Т	F
;	3. The woman believes that people with different characters and different age groups can be good friends.	Т	F
•	<ol> <li>The woman believes that young people like to have older friends because they are cleverer.</li> </ol>	Т	F
į	5. The woman believes friends can force their ideas on others.	Т	F
(	5. The woman believes of all the animals only dogs can be good friends to humans.	Т	F
-	7. The woman believes that animals will accept and love you if you don't complain to them about your problems.	Т	F
	ten to a conversation about two friends - Lauren and Catheri g to go to a cinema. Answer the questions.	ne. Th	hey are
	Before starting to listen, you have 15 seconds to read the	ques	tions.
	3. What time does the movie start?  9. What time does Catherine have to be home?  1. Does Catherine want to pay with a credit card or cash?		

#### B. Reading comprehension.

#### B1. Read the Story and answer the questions

#### The Wedding Proposal

I have always **resented** the way some people carry on loud cell phone conversations in a restaurant, but one night I witnessed the ultimate as I watched a young man proposing to his beautiful companion.

Picture this romantic Italian restaurant with candlelight, fresh flowers and a wonderful violinist moving from table to table setting the perfect mood in the perfect place for the perfect moment. The young man reached across the table, took his loved one's hand in his and began what seemed to be a heart felt proposal of marriage. She gazed back at his with her earnest, love-drenched blue eyes. It was all going so well, until . . . Yes, you have already guessed! Her phone rang. It was one of those very loud, special cell phone rings that runs up and down the scale idiotically and *captures* the notice of everyone in the restaurant. Without embarrassment or apology, she let go of his hand and reached for her cell, which lay right alongside her salad plate.

"Yeah, hi! Who is this? Oh, Suzy, it's been such a long time. You won't believe what is happening here. Frank is with me and we're at this great restaurant and he's proposing to me!"

enthusiastically with	n waited patiently 1 her friend.	across the table while his bride was chatting e haven't gotten that far."
Questions		
12. The word resen	<b>ted</b> in line 1 means	:
a) hated b) wor	ndered c) admire	.d
13. What does the w	ord <i>captures</i> in lir	ne 10 refer to?
a) phone b) ring	s c) the sco	ıle
14. What do you thing a) kiss the girl's hand c) ask the girl to be Adopted from www.phoneybus	d come his wife	b) reproach the girl for talking on the phone
can buy fast food as junk food. It's so	ny food that is quic just about anywher o popular because f	copriate paragraph.  ck, convenient, and usually inexpensive. You  re that sells food and snacks. It is also known  for under \$5.00 you can usually get a filling  re because it is usually made with cheaper

ingredients such as high fat meat, refined grains, and added sugar and fats, instead of nutritious foods such as lean meats, fresh fruits, and vegetables. There is no such thing as a "bad" food. All foods can fit into a healthy meal plan. It's true that fast food is usually high in fat, calories, cholesterol and sodium, but eating fast food every once in a while is not going to cause you problems. If you eat too much fast food over a long period of time, though, it can lead to health problems such as high blood pressure, heart disease, and obesity.
Most fast food and restaurant chains post their nutrition information online. Use a search engine to find the companies' web page. There is usually a link to the nutrition section on the home page where you will find nutrition facts, including fat, cholesterol, sodium, protein, calories, and more. Take a look at this information to help you make healthier choices when eating out.
15. Where can I find nutrition facts about fast it so popular?
17. Is fast food always bad?
B2. Circle T for "true" and F for "false" sentences.
18. Fast food is convenient but it costs much.  T F
19. You can satisfy your hunger with fast food even if you have 5 dollars.  T F
20. Fast food harms your health no matter how often you eat it.  T F
21. You can find a lot of information about the ingredients of fast food  T  F
in the web pages of fast food chains.
Adopted from <a href="http://www.youngwomenshealth.org/fast_food.html">http://www.youngwomenshealth.org/fast_food.html</a>
C. Grammar: Choose the best option
<ul> <li>22. The faulty alarm</li></ul>

	a.	Must
	b.	Should
	c.	May
	24.Paola	: "I love chocolate desserts!"
	Paulir	na: ""
	a.	I do too
	b.	So am I
	c.	Me neither
	25.Altho	ugh I tried tothe recipe when making the cake it
	taste	d awful.
	a.	carefully
	b.	careful
	c.	the most careful
	26.Philip	o15 next Wednesday
	α.	will be
	b.	can be
	- •	has been
		lower is than that one.
		beautiful
		more beautiful
		most beautiful
		uestion is easy
		answering
		to answer
	- •	answer
		andidate many voters when she ran for governor last year.
		impress
		impressed
		will impress
		ew drinks beer.
		many
		too much
	C.	very few
,	30 naint	
′_	<u>_30 point</u>	<u>ə</u>

#### **Appendix B: Achievement tests**

Level 4A Test 1
Time: 60 minutes

Section I. Comprehension (20 points)

Part A: Listening Comprehension (10 points)

### A1) Look at the following passage for a minute. Then listen to the tape, and write the missing words on your answer sheet. (7 points)

I always enjoy visiting the home of my friend Frank Summeril. He has a very interesting family. Frank's grandparents (on his mother's side) (1).... .... with them about ten years ago, so there are three generations living in (2).... .... .... . Although three generations are represented, it is a small family. There are (3).... .... ...., Frank, his parents, and grandparents.

I (4).... visiting with his grandfather. Although his is more than (5).... .... , his powers of sight and hearing are remarkable. I sometimes think he can see and hear almost as well as I can. There is nothing wrong with his memory, either. He can entertain you for hours, telling you of

A2) These people are asking questions at a car-rental agency. Listen and mark a or b as the best answer to each item on your answer sheet. (3 points)

1. a. 30 dollars a day b. 13 dollars a day

exciting experiences he has had, and of life a long time ago.

2. a. comes without gas b. comes with gas

3. a. at the airport b. downtown

Part B: Reading Comprehension (10 points)

### B1) Read the following passage. Choose a, b, c, or d which best fits each blank and mark it on your answer sheet. (5 points)

Jenny Parker is over ninety years old. She lives in a village in the (1)... with her cats. Ten years ago, she (2)... live in an industrial area. She (3)... married, but she loves children. She can (4)... the time when she had a difficult (5).... She often thinks about her past. (6)... 1915, her father died in the war. (7)... mother became sick a year later. She (8)... to work as a housemaid with a rich (9)... . She worked there for nearly forty years and (10)... when she was 55.

1. a. city b. country c. block d. center

2. a. had b. was c. did d. used to

a. never	b. almost	c. just	d. still
a. forget	b. remind	c. remember	d. tell
a. period	b. life	c. day	d. world
a. At	b. On	c. By	d. In
a. His	b. Her	c. The	d. That
a. starts	b. has started	c. started	d. had started
a. parent	b. family	c. society	d. school
a. retired	b. has retired	c. had retired	d. retires
•	•	•	

### B2) Read the following passage. Choose a, b, c, or d which best completes each item and mark it on your answer sheet. (5 points)

Frank Hawkins is a friend of mine who sometimes talks about his experiences as a young man. He is now the head of a very large company, but as a boy he worked in a small shop. It was his job to repair bicycles, and at that time, he would work fourteen hours a day. He saved money for years and around 1938, he bought a small workshop of his own. During the war, Frank made parts for airplanes. At that time, he had two helpers. By the end of the war, the small workshop became a large factory which employed seven hundred and twenty eight people.

- 1. Frank ..... during the war.
  - a. was a soldier c. made airplane parts
  - b. repaired air planes d. was the head of a company
- 2. According to the passage .....
  - a. Frank never worked 14 hours a day
  - b. He always worked 14 hours a day
  - c. He worked 14 hours a day during the war
  - d. He worked 14 hours a day when he was a boy
- 3. By the end of the war, he had ......

a. a large workshopb. a bicycle storec. a lot of customersd. over 700 employees

4. When he was a small boy, he .....

a. worked in a shop c. rode a bike

b. sold bicycles d. had a lot of toy planes

- 5. We can understand from the passage that .....
  - a. Frank was a real businessman since he was a young boy
  - b. Frank's experiences helped him in his career
  - c. Frank tried many different jobs in his childhood.
  - d. Frank's workers loved him in both the shop and the factory

Section II. Comprehension and Production (10 points)

Part A: Use the information in the following table and on your answer sheet, write five sentences to compare different transportation systems. (5 points)

Features	No. of people the vehicle carries	Maximum speed	Ticket price
Transp. Sys.			
Taxi	4	80 km/h	\$ 15
Bus	30	60 km/h	\$ 2
Subway	250	120 km/h	\$ 2

Part B: Use the following information about Jane. Write the answers to the questions on your answer sheet. (5 points)

#### Jane

1980	Born in England.		
1989	Visited China and Philadelphia with her parents.		
1991-3	Studied French and played the piano.		
1995	Took swimming and computer classes.		
2000	Won swimming championship.		
2002	Married and moved to Canada.		

- 1. What did Jane do in 1995?
- 2. Which countries has she visited?
- 3. What did Jane achieve in the year 2000?
- 4. How long has Jane practiced French?
- 5. When did Jane get married?

Section III. Production (10 points)

On the back of your answer sheet, write a paragraph of at least 100 words about the most exciting event you have ever taken part in in your life?

## Level 4A 1/ Quiz 1

Time: 45 minutes

Section I.Comprehension

Part A: Listening points)

(15 points)

Comprehension (10

### A1) Listen to the following passage and write the missing words on your answer sheet. (4 points)

We all have different opinions. You have a right to yours and I have a right to mine. (1) ... ... what goes on the world, the (2)... ... you can work on is what is right for you. You have to (3) ... ... ... with your inner guidance because it is the (4) ... that knows the answer for you. It is not easy to listen to yourself when others are telling you what to do. Yet, all the answers to all the questions you are ever going to ask are within you now.

### A2) These people are having conversations. What are they talking about? Listen and choose a or b and mark it on your answer sheet. (6 points)

a. his jacket
 a. family
 a. a vacation
 a. her brother
 a. school
 b. her hairstyle
 b. school
 b. the weather
 a. new friend
 b. work

6. a. school b. work b. work

#### Part B: Reading Comprehension (5 points)

### B1) Read the following passage and choose the answer (a, b, c, or d) which best completes each item and mark it on your answerr sheet. (2.5 points)

July 20<sup>th</sup> 1969 was an important day. Two Americans landed on the moon, so they were the first men on the moon. Their names were Armstrong and Aldrin. They went in a spaceship called Apollo 11 which left Cape Kennedy on July 16<sup>th</sup> and travelled 385,000 kilometers. The journey took three days.

On July 20<sup>th</sup> the spaceship landed on the Sea of Tranquility. Armstrong stepped onto the moon, and then the two men walked on the surface of the moon and picked up some rocks and put them in the spaceship. There was no air on the moon, so they jumped up and down. Then they put a flag in the ground. They were tired after their moon walk so they rested.

On July 21<sup>st</sup> Apollo 11 left the moon and returned to Earth. Three days later it came down in the pacific Ocean and a ship took the men to America and to their families.

1. July the 20<sup>th</sup> was a great day because two men......

a. entered a spaceship c. returned to the Earth b. went 385,000 kilometers d. walked on the moon

2. The two men were tired because they ......

a. traveled for three daysb. had a walk on the moond. picked up some rocks

3. They jumped up and down because......

a. there was no atmosphere c. they were very happy

b. they left Cape Kennedy

d. there was time to put a flag

4. The Sea of Tranquility is ......

a. in the United states c. on the moon b. in the Pacific Ocean d. on the Earth

5. The journey took.....altogether.

a. three days
b. six days
c. eight days
d. seven days

### B2) Read the following passage and choose the answer (a, b, c, or d) which best fits each blank and mark it on your answer sheet. (2.5 points)

Deep sleep is important for everyone. The actual (1)..... of sleep you need depends(2)..... your age. A young child (3)..... to sleep ten to twelve hours, and a teenager about nine hours. Adults differ a lot in their sleeping (4)..... For most of them, seven to eight hours a night is(5)....., but some sleep longer and others manage with only four hours.

For a good night, having a comfortable (6)... ... to sleep is very important. Also, there should be (7)..... of fresh air in the room. A warm drink sometimes helps people to sleep, (8)..... it is not a good idea to drink coffee immediately before going to bed.

(9)...... you have to travel a very long distance, try to go to bed earlier than usual the day before the (10)...... This will help you to feel more rested when you arrive.

1.	a. size	b. number	c. amount	d. sum
2.	a. on	b. to	c. in	d. of
3.	a. could	b. ought	c. must	d. should
4.	a. ways	b. habits	c. manners	d. actions
5.	a. few	b. well	c. less	d. enough
6.	a. point	b. place	c. position	d. part
7.	a. plenty	b. much	c. many	d. several
8.	a. because	b. as	c. although	d. even
9.	a. Since	b. Until	c. After	d. If
10.	a. journey	b. ride	c. call	d. visit

Section II. Comprehension and production (10 points)

PartA: Compare the following two pictures about Jane. Then on your answer sheet, write how she used to be and how she is now.(3 points)

Jane 2004 Jane 1995



PartB: Write a

solution for each of the following

# problems on your answer sheet. (3 points)

1. There are not enough parks in this city.
2. There is too much air pollution in this city.
3. We don't have enough parking lots around here.
Part C: Julia is new to the neighborhood. She doesn't know where anything is.  She is asking a neighbor some questions. Complete the conversation between Julia and her neighbor. (4 points)
WHERE? HOW?
/h amaam.)
WHAT TIME?  WHERE?  (post office)
J : Excuse me! Can you (1)?
N: Well, it's near the bus station.
J : And do you know (2)?
N: You can take bus number 5.
J : Could you (3)?
N: It's across from the bank.
J: By the way, do you know (4)?  N: I'm not sure, but I guess at 8:30.

On the back of your answer sheet, write  $\underline{a}$  paragraph of at least 75 words about the traffic at rush hour.

Section III. Production ( 5 points)

#### Test 2

Time: 60 ms.

Section I. Comprehension (20 points)

Part A: Listening Comprehension (10 points)

# A1) Listen to the following conversation, and write the missing words on your answer sheet. (7 points)

Sara: Howard, maybe it's none of my business, but—well, you haven't been yourself lately. I mean, you've been losing your temper over nothing.

Howard: I know. I shouldn't have blown like that. I don't know what happened.

And it's (1) ... ... ... I've been getting into arguments with Linda and yelling at the kids.

Sara: Have you been doing anything besides working?

Howard: Not really. I haven't been getting (2) ... ... either. But what can I do? I've got to get this work done.

Sara: Well, you'd better not push yourself too hard, or you'll get sick. Then you won't be able to (3) ... ... ....

Howard: I'm under so much pressure, Sara. Sometimes I just feel like quitting.

Sara: I know how that is, Howard. I've felt that myself. Listen, if(4) ... ... I'd take some time off and get away for a while. You can't go on at this pace.

Howard: You're right. Thanks for listening, Sara. And thanks for (5) ... ... ...

Sara: And I'd cut down on the coffee too. It makes you even more nervous.

Howard: OK, OK. That's enough advice!

# A2) Listen to these passengers. What does each person want? Choose a or b as the best answer to each item and mark it on your answer sheet. (3 points)

a. cold medicine
 a. a different headset
 a. a newspaper
 b. a different seat
 b. some writing paper

Part B: Reading Comprehension (10 points)

# B1) Read the following restaurant guides and choose the right passage for each description. Then mark a, b, c, or d on your answer sheet. (5 points)

(a) This excellent steakhouse has been	(b) Located right on the waterfront, this
well known for over fifty years. You may	busy seafood restaurant is a popular
be sure that the service will be as perfect	place. It is best to make reservations. You

as your meal. You can have a quiet	can drive here or sail on the sea to arrive
dinner, a business lunch, or a party here.	for a lovely dinner.
(c) If you're in a hurry and you have to	(d) This attractive, new dining place is
get a quick meal, drop by here. Fast	great for healthy eating. All meals are
service and low prices are two of many	high in taste and low in fat. Fresh
advantages you'll get here.	vegetables, green salads, and fruits are
	always prepared. You can get an outdoor
	table, too.

1. This place is good for you if you want to eat fast food.	( )
2. You can go to this restaurant with a number of co-workers.	( )
3. If you are concerned about your health, you can choose this place.	( )
4. This place is the oldest restaurant in our town.	( )
5. You have to reserve a table before you go to this restaurant.	()

# B2) Read the following passage. Choose a, b, c, or d which best fits each blank and mark it on your answer sheet. (5 points)

Erna Hart is going to swim across the English Channel tomorrow. She is going to start (1)... the French Coast at five o'clock (2)... the morning. Erna is only fourteen (3)... old. She is a strong swimmer (4)... many people feel that she will be (5).... Erna's father will move with her (6)... a small boat. Mr. Hart has (7)... his daughter for years. Erna wants (8)... take short rests every two hours. (9)... will have to drink but she (10)... not eat any solid food. Millions of people will watch her on TV.

1. a. about	b. by	c. in	d. from	
2. a. for	b. on	c. in	d. at	
3. a. age	b. years	c. feet	d. meters	
4. a. but	b. or	c. and	d. if	
5. a. grateful	b. thankful	c. successful	d. careful	
6. a. in	b. at	c. by	d. for	
7. a. training	b. trained	c. to train	d. train	
8. a. to	b. by	c. for	d. at	
9. a. It	b. They	c. She	d. He	
10. a. will				b. does
c. has	Section II. Comp	rehension and Prod	uction	d. ought
	(10 points)			

#### Part A: Complete the following sentences using relative clauses of time. (4 points)

1. Spring is
2. St. Valentine's Day is
3. March 7
4. Vartavar is

Part B: Look at the following pictures. On your answer sheet, write about the activities they are going to do next weekend. (4 points)



(2

Part C: Complete the following sentences and write them on your answer sheet. points)

- 1. We use keys .....
- 2. Robots are used .....
- 3. You can use a fax machine .....
- 4. A hair dryer is used ......

Section III. Production (10 points)

On the back of your answer sheet, write a paragraph of at least 100 words about the following topic.

What do people do during the New Year, especially on December 31st, new Year's Eve?

#### **Appendix C: Project guidelines**

# Class magazine Project guidelines for students

For this task, you will create a magazine. In order to accomplish the task, you will

- 1. Form groups.
- 2. Look though the first eight units of your textbook
- 3. Choose a topic for your magazine from these units the one that you like best
- 4. Choose a name for your magazine
- 5. Search the internet and other sources to find relevant information that is closely related to your topic
- 6. Write original articles (keep in mind that the more original articles you have, the higher your grade will be)
- 7. Include the articles you found and wrote in the magazine
- 8. Work on the design of your magazine.

It is important to say that you will have a chance to constantly receive feedback on the drafts of your project. The final project will include the written version and a group presentation. Use the following guidelines to prepare your project:

- carefully organize the information included in the magazine and make use of such articles that are closely related to the topic of the magazine
- use multiple sources of information in developing an accurate written project
- > with each article mention the links of the web sites and other recourses you use
- > use appropriate language free of grammar, spelling, punctuation and sentence structure errors in your written project
- > write at least half of the articles on your own
- effectively use graphic component, and make the magazine design attractive

Use this schedule to when working on the project to know what to do and when.

Date	Things to do
Week 2 day 2	In class we will discuss the assignment (the project)
19.04.2011	
Week 3 day 1	Introduce your group members and the topic of your magazine
21.04.2011	
Up to week 4 day 1 28.04.2011	Work hard on gathering information. You must all search for
	relevant articles and you must all participate in writing original
	articles
Week 4 day 1	Hand in the first draft and go on working on the content of the
28.04.2011	magazine
Week 5 day 1	Get feedback on the first draft. Continue working towards
05.05.2011	improvements, adding information and edition of the magazine
Week 7 day 1	Hand in the second draft of your project
19.05.2011	
Week 7 day 2	Receive feedback on the second draft. Finalize the project. Work
24.05.2011	extensively on the design of the magazine
Week 9 day 1	Hand in the third draft of the project
02.06.2011	
Week 9 day 2	Receive feedback. In class, practice oral presentation skills
07.06.2011	
Week 10 day 1	Make a final presentation of the project and hand in the final
09.06.2011	written version
Week 10 day 2	In class we will have a class discussion when you will evaluate the
14.06.2011	process of working on the project and the project itself(assessment
	of the activities, discussion of the achievements, identification of
	errors and appraisal)

#### Appendix D - Questionnaire

#### Student Questionnaire

This anonymous and confidential questionnaire is part of a thesis research study being conducted with the support of the Department of English Programs at the American University of Armenia. It seeks to find out the students' attitudes towards Project Work

Now that you've completed your project, please circle the three words below which best sum up your feelings about it:

Are there any other words that

challenging	enjoyable	worthwhile	scary	useful	interesting	exciting
tedious	unrewarding	straightforward	frustrating	time-	hard	difficult
	_	_	_	consuming		
				)		

Please, indicate the degree to which you agree i	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neither agree nor disagree	Disagree	Strongly disagree
1. Working on the project was a useful and beneficial learning experience for me.					
2. The stages of the project helped me understand my learning progress of English.					
3. I find the amount of time and effort I spent on the project reasonable.					
<b>4</b> . The project helped me identify what type of problems I had in learning English.					
5. Project work helped me feel more responsible for my learning					
<b>6</b> . I like doing project work better than doing homework assignments every day.					
7. Project work helped me learn English more effectively.					
If you have any other comments please use the spa	ce below				

**Table 1: Interview questions for students** 

	Questions
	Did you like the project in general? Do you think Project work is an effective way to learn
1.	English? Why?
2.	Can you name some advantages and disadvantages of Project Work?
	Do you think that Project Work helped you to develop your English? If yes, what skills do
3.	you think Project Work helped you to develop?

Table 2. Raw Data

ID	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8
1	2	4	5	4	4	2	2	4
2	1	4	5	4	3	1	2	4
3	3	5	4	4	4	3	1	5
4	2	5	3	4	5	1	3	5
5	2	5	4	4	3	2	1	5
6	3	4	4	4	4	2	3	4
7	2	2	4	5	3	2	2	4

Table 3. Questionnaire results
SA - strongly agree, A - agree, Neither A nor D - neither agree nor disagree, D - disagree, SD - strongly

disagree

Question	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neither	Disagree	Strongly
			Agree nor		Disagree
			Disagree		
Q1	3	6	0	0	0
Q2	2	5	1	1	0
Q3	2	5	1	1	0
Q4	3	2	2	2	0
Q5	3	4	1	1	0
Q6	3	2	3	1	0
Q7	2	5	2	0	0

Table 4. Questionnaire item analysis in percentages

Questions	Strongly	Agree	Neither	Disagree	Strongly
			agree nor		

	agree		disagree		disagree
Q1	33,3	66,6	0	0	0
Q2	22,2	55,5	11,1	11,1	0
Q3	22,2	55,5	11,1	11,1	0
Q4	33,3	22,2	22,2	22,2	0
Q5	33,3	44,4	11,1	11,1	0
Q6	33,3	22,2	33,3	11,1	0
Q7	22,2	55,5	22,2	0	0

Table 5. Mann-Whitney U Test: test ranks

#### Ranks

			I	
	group	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
pretest	experimental	7	5,64	39,50
	control	9	10,72	96,50
	Total	16		
test1	experimental	7	11,14	78,00
	control	11	8,45	93,00
	Total	18		
quiz1	experimental	7	8,43	59,00
	control	9	8,56	77,00
	Total	16		
test2	experimental	7	9,29	65,00
	control	11	9,64	106,00
	Total	18		

**Table 6. Mann-Whitney U Test: Significance of test results Test Statistics**<sup>b</sup>

	pretest	test1	quiz1	test2
Mann-Whitney U	11,500	27,000	31,000	37,000
Wilcoxon W	39,500	93,000	59,000	65,000
Z	-2,139	-1,042	-,053	-,136
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,032	,297	,958	,892
Exact Sig. [2*(1-tailed Sig.)]	,031 <sup>a</sup>	,328 <sup>a</sup>	1,000 <sup>a</sup>	,930 <sup>a</sup>

a. Not corrected for ties.

b. Grouping Variable: group

Table 7. Friedman Test: Significance of test results for the experimental group

N	5
Chi-Square	11,571
df	3
Asymp. Sig.	,009

a. group = experimental

b. Friedman Test

Table 8. Friedman Test: Significance of test results for the control group

N	8
Chi-Square	11,038
df	3
Asymp. Sig.	,012

a. group = control

Table 9. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of pre- test and test1 in experimental group

Ranksd

-	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test1 - pretest Negative Ranks	$O^a$	.00	.00
Positive Ranks	6 <sup>b</sup>	3.50	21.00

b. Friedman Test

Ties	$0^{c}$	
Total	6	

- a. test1 < pretest
- b. test1 > pretest
- c. test1 = pretest
- d. group = experimental

# Test Statistics<sup>b,c</sup>

	test1 - pretest
Z	-2.201 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	.028

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 10. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of pre- test and test1 in control group

#### Ranksd

		N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test1 - pretest	Negative Ranks	2 <sup>a</sup>	2.50	5.00
	Positive Ranks	7 <sup>b</sup>	5.71	40.00
	Ties	$0^{c}$		
	Total	9		

- a. test1 < pretest
- b. test1 > pretest
- c. test1 = pretest
- d. group = control

	test1 - pretest
	icsti - pretest
Z	-2.073 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	.038

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = control

#### Test Statistics b,c

	test1 - pretest
Z	-2.073 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	.038

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 11. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of pre- test and quiz1 in experimental group

#### Ranksd

	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
quiz1 - pretest Negative Ranks	$0^a$	,00	,00
Positive Ranks	6 <sup>b</sup>	3,50	21,00
Ties	$0^{c}$		
Total	6		li.

- a. quiz1 < pretest
- b. quiz1 > pretest
- c. quiz1 = pretest
- d. group = experimental

#### Test Statistics b,c

	quiz1 - pretest
Z	-2,201 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,028

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 12. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of pre- test and quiz1 in control group

#### Ranksd

Italiks			
	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks

quiz1 - pretest Negative Ranks	$0^{a}$	,00	,00
Positive Ranks	7 <sup>b</sup>	4,00	28,00
Ties	1°		
Total	8	li.	li.

a. quiz1 < pretest

b. quiz1 > pretest

c. quiz1 = pretest

d. group = control

#### Test Statistics b,c

	quiz1 - pretest
Z	-2,375 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,018

a. Based on negative ranks.

b. group = control

c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 13. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of pre- test and test2 in experimental group

## Ranks<sup>d</sup>

	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test2 - pretest Negative Ranks	$0^a$	,00	,00
Positive Ranks	6 <sup>b</sup>	3,50	21,00
Ties	$0^{c}$		
Total	6		

a. test2 < pretest

b. test2 > pretest

c. test2 = pretest

d. group = experimental

# Test Statistics<sup>b,c</sup>

	test2 - pretest
Z	-2,201 <sup>a</sup>

Asymp. Sig. (2-	028
tailed)	,028

a. Based on negative ranks.

b. group = experimental

c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 14. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of pre- test and test2 in control group

Ranksd

-	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test2 - pretest Negative Ranks	2 <sup>a</sup>	3,50	7,00
Positive Ranks	7 <sup>b</sup>	5,43	38,00
Ties	$0^{c}$		
Total	9		

a. test2 < pretest

b. test2 > pretest

c. test2 = pretest

d. group = control

Test Statistics b,c

	test2 - pretest
Z	-1,836 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,066

a. Based on negative ranks.

b. group = control

c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 15. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of test1 and quiz1 in experimental

#### group

#### Ranksd

	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
quiz1 - test1 Negative Ranks	3 <sup>a</sup>	3,67	11,00
Positive Ranks	3 <sup>b</sup>	3,33	10,00
Ties	$0^{c}$		
Total	6		

- a. quiz1 < test1
- b. quiz1 > test1
- c. quiz1 = test1
- d. group = experimental

## Test Statistics b,c

	quiz1 - test1
Z	-,105 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,917

- a. Based on positive ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 16. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of test1 and quiz1 in control group

Ranks<sup>d</sup>

-	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
quiz1 - test1 Negative Ranks	$2^a$	6,50	13,00
Positive Ranks	7 <sup>b</sup>	4,57	32,00
Ties	$0^{c}$		
Total	9		

- a. quiz1 < test1
- b. quiz1 > test1
- c. quiz1 = test1
- d. group = control

	quiz1 - test1
Z	-1,125 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,260

- a. Based on negative ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 17. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of test1 and test2 in experimental group

Ranks<sup>d</sup>

		N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test2 - test1	Negative Ranks	5 <sup>a</sup>	4,00	20,00
	Positive Ranks	1 <sup>b</sup>	1,00	1,00
	Ties	1 <sup>c</sup>		
	Total	7		

a. test2 < test1

b. test2 > test1

c. test2 = test1

d. group = experimental

Test Statistics<sup>b,c</sup>

	test2 - test1
Z	-1,992 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,046

a. Based on positive ranks.

b. group = experimental

c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 18. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of test1 and test2 in control group

Ranks<sup>d</sup>

		N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test2 - test1	Negative Ranks	5 <sup>a</sup>	6,60	33,00
	Positive Ranks	6 <sup>b</sup>	5,50	33,00
	Ties	$0^{c}$		
	Total	11		

a. test2 < test1

b. test2 > test1

c. test2 = test1

#### Ranks<sup>d</sup>

		N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test2 - test1	Negative Ranks	5 <sup>a</sup>	6,60	33,00
	Positive Ranks	6 <sup>b</sup>	5,50	33,00
	Ties	$0^{c}$		
	Total	11		

a. test2 < test1

b. test2 > test1

d. group = control

Test Statistics<sup>b,c</sup>

	test2 - test1
Z	$,000^{a}$
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	1,000

a. The sum of negative ranks equals the sum of positive ranks.

b. group = control

c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 19. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of quiz1 and test2 in experimental group

Ranksd

-	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
test2 - quiz1 Negative Ranks	5 <sup>a</sup>	3,60	18,00
Positive Ranks	1 <sup>b</sup>	3,00	3,00
Ties	$0^{c}$		
Total	6		

a. test2 < quiz1

b. test2 > quiz1

c. test2 = quiz1

d. group = experimental

test2 - quiz1
1

Z	-1,572 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,116

- a. Based on positive ranks.
- b. group = experimental
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test

Table 20. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test: Comparison of quiz1 and test2 in control group

#### Ranksd

	N	Mean Rai	nk Sum of Ranks
test2 - quiz1 Negative	Ranks 5ª	5,00	25,00
Positive	Ranks 3 <sup>b</sup>	3,67	11,00
Ties	1°		
Total	9		

- a. test2 < quiz1
- b. test2 > quiz1
- c. test2 = quiz1
- d. group = control

	test2 - quiz1
Z	-,980 <sup>a</sup>
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed)	,327

- a. Based on positive ranks.
- b. group = control
- c. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test